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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: My habit is to

          3  begin our hearings on time and I am certain there

          4  are other witnesses who probably will come into the

          5  room from 250 Broadway where they will have been

          6  misdirected because there wasn't the appropriate

          7  equipment over there for them. And so I am going to

          8  call this hearing of the Committee on Aging to

          9  order. My name is Julia Harrison, and I am the Chair

         10  of the Committee, and I represent the Borough of

         11  Queens.

         12                 I have to my left, the far left, even

         13  though he is to the far right, Council Member

         14  Michael Abel, who is my colleague, and I have Mike

         15  Nelson from Brooklyn with me so far and my staff

         16  members who are here to help conduct a thorough

         17  hearing.

         18                 I want to make a brief statement

         19  first, which is procedural and indicate that we are

         20  aware of the fact that there are 23 percent of the

         21  population aged 65 and over, which has a hearing

         22  loss. That percent increases to 33 percent of the

         23  population aged 75 or older.

         24                 However, according to a survey

         25  conducted by the League for the Hard of Hearing,
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          2  most senior centers are not being made accessible to

          3  the hard of hearing, even though federal law,

          4  specifically Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990

          5  required them to be accessible.

          6                 I might interject in this instance

          7  that even though people who are hard of hearing had

          8  had advocates for the past 14 years that I know of,

          9  because of my interface with them in a previous

         10  chairmanship on a committee for medical

         11  alternatives, there is also absolutely, to my

         12  knowledge, no identifying people with hearing

         13  impairment who go into hospital emergency rooms, nor

         14  who are living in hospitals as patients, and I think

         15  this is a grievous oversight and I speak from

         16  personal experience because my husband was hard of

         17  hearing, probably stone deaf, I don't really know

         18  that he ever heard, but when he was hospitalized and

         19  when he was in the emergency room he was accused by

         20  the doctors who shifted one doctor after the other

         21  of being uncooperative, well the poor soul never

         22  heard what they were saying to him so he couldn't

         23  cooperate.

         24                 My mother, who recently deceased,

         25  aged 96, had the same problem, and apparently there
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          2  is not training for people who are not in the

          3  medical profession to accommodate themselves to the

          4  fact that people can be hard of hearing or may not

          5  have any ability to hear.

          6                 So, I think that in addition to

          7  senior centers being delinquent in this regard or

          8  deficient, hospitals and medical centers can share

          9  that responsibility as well.

         10                 Although, 100 percent of the

         11  respondents to the survey reply that they served

         12  hearing impaired seniors, most of the respondents

         13  had no devices to help the hearing impaired. Or

         14  another difficulty faced by many is the untreated

         15  hearing loss which leads to depression, anxiety and

         16  paranoia, as well as the reluctance to participate

         17  in organized social activities which is absolutely

         18  borne out by my own personal experiences with my

         19  husband.

         20                 It is of vital importance to train

         21  staff and service agencies to help seniors recognize

         22  their hearing loss and seek the appropriate

         23  treatment as such efforts will greatly enhance the

         24  quality of the seniors' lives.

         25                 The purpose of today's hearing is to
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          2  bring light to a serious issue and figure out ways

          3  to ensure that agencies which service our seniors

          4  are equipped with assistive devices so hearing

          5  impaired seniors will be able to enjoy the many

          6  services offered, as everyone, including hearing

          7  impaired persons, deserve.

          8                 So, having thus read the statement

          9  which is the opening gun in this hearing, I will

         10  begin the calling of witnesses by asking Mr. Keith

         11  Muller, the Executive Director, League for the Hard

         12  of Hearing, please take the podium. And the

         13  procedure, Mr. Muller, is that after you push the

         14  button in so that light is off, you identify

         15  yourself by name and by title and organization and

         16  then you proceed with your testimony.

         17                 MR. MULLER: Is this a good distance

         18  from the microphone?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Do you have

         20  material you want us to read at this point? Will one

         21  of the sergeants please assist Mr. Miller.

         22                 MR. MULLER: Yes. The League for the

         23  Hard of Hearing has prepared a fact sheet about some

         24  of the things you just mentioned, Ms. Harrison, and

         25  this is the testimony to be presented before the
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          2  public hearing on the Department of Aging, and then

          3  here is copies of my testimony for today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. MULLER: It is a pleasure to be

          7  here before you for this important event, bringing

          8  attention of the services or lack thereof for people

          9  with hearing loss in New York City. Your comments

         10  were certainly to the point, and I believe

         11  throughout the testimony of the day, there will be

         12  some repetition of those facts you mentioned, as

         13  well as some stories that will maybe make it

         14  additionally personal as it had been to you. So we

         15  welcome this opportunity and I will just read my

         16  testimony and refer to certain documents throughout.

         17  I will try to stay within five minutes. And I am

         18  glad the Council Members are here, the Committee

         19  members are here also.

         20                 Good morning, and thank you for

         21  holding this hearing. I will try to speak slowly so

         22  that the interpreter who is from the League for the

         23  Hard of Hearing at the moment, although not

         24  certified, is willing to help out in this instance.

         25  So, if she needs a break when I am done testifying,
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          2  maybe I will assist her since I am an interpreter,

          3  but I would hope that in addition to assisted

          4  devices that sometime this morning we can find an

          5  interpreter to come here and do the job that is

          6  necessary for this meeting.

          7                 I am Kieth Muller, the Executive

          8  Director of the League for the Hard of Hearing, the

          9  oldest and largest multi-disciplinary hearing

         10  rehabilitation and human services agency for deaf

         11  and hard of hearing people in the country.

         12                 For 30 years I have been working with

         13  hard of hearing and deaf people, either in the role

         14  of the social worker, a psychotherapist, a sign

         15  language interpreter, a program developer or an

         16  advocate.

         17                 Much progress has been made over

         18  these 30 years, regarding understanding disability,

         19  enacting laws mandating equal access, making

         20  education accessible, and providing remedies for

         21  people whose rights have been violated.

         22                 The Americans With Disabilities Act

         23  is the single, most inclusive and important law ever

         24  passed regarding equal access for people with

         25  disabilities. Congress and the president enacted and
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          2  signed this law with the understanding that in

          3  America no longer will people with disabilities be

          4  regarded as second class citizens. Instead, they

          5  will be given full and equal access where reasonable

          6  to all programs, facilities and services provided to

          7  the general public.

          8                 While progress has been made in some

          9  areas since 1990, programs for seniors with hearing

         10  loss has not been one of them. Either through

         11  personal appearances or through written testimony,

         12  the League for the Hard of Hearing has testified at

         13  the Department for the Aging public hearings each

         14  year for the past five years and even earlier.

         15                 The Commissioner has sent letters

         16  declaring the value of working "together to ensure

         17  that the independence and quality of life of older

         18  New Yorkers is preserved." And an additional quote

         19  from the Commissioner: "For many older New Yorkers,

         20  but particularly the hearing impaired, the major

         21  obstacle to receiving needed benefits and services

         22  is access to reliable information and assistance."

         23  Those were in a letter to me dated November '95 and

         24  November '97.

         25                 From 1995 onward there has been no
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          2  continuing dialogue with the Department that would

          3  respectfully disagree with the Commissioner's

          4  statements and suggest instead that the major

          5  obstacles to receiving needed benefits and services

          6  is at best benign neglect or at worst, indifference.

          7                 Certainly there is no legal grounds

          8  for neglecting the needs of over 300,000 hearing

          9  impaired elderly New Yorkers. The ADA, which became

         10  effective in 1992, provides mechanism to resolve

         11  problems related to what is called undue burdens, or

         12  other than reasonable accommodations.

         13                 The Department is a public entity and

         14  needs to be held accountable, for continuing to

         15  disregard the mandates of the ADA. There is no lack

         16  of reliable information or assistance, as the

         17  testimony of others today will document. Many people

         18  are available to assist, and have actually tried to

         19  bring assistance, yet such assistance has not been

         20  utilized.

         21                 Title 2 of the ADA is the section

         22  devoted to state and local governments. Bob Bolert,

         23  Esquire, formerly with the New York State Office of

         24  the Advocate, stated in 1995 that the heart of Title

         25  2 is a requirement for program accessibility.
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          2                 This means that government has an

          3  obligation to make sure that people with all types

          4  of disabilities, including people with hearing

          5  impairment, have an equal opportunity to access

          6  every program in service that is offered by

          7  government in the most integrated settings possible.

          8                 Section 35-105 of Title 2 mandates:

          9  "A public entity evaluate its current policies and

         10  practices to identify and correct any that are not

         11  consistent with the requirements of this part."

         12                 Section 35, paragraph 106 of Title 2,

         13  requires that public entities give notice, "to

         14  applicants, participants, beneficiaries, to inform

         15  them of the rights and protections afforded by the

         16  ADA."

         17                 Other provisions exist, however, the

         18  point is, to our knowledge the Department has not

         19  complied with this provision, especially regarding

         20  death and hard of hearing people. The Department has

         21  not developed a compliance plan, may not have

         22  designated an ADA coordinator, and has not made

         23  accommodations to serve deaf and hard of hearing

         24  seniors.

         25                 Certainly there has been no outreach
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          2  nor advocacy from the Department regarding deaf and

          3  hard of hearing people. These are violations of the

          4  ADA. This must change.

          5                 Only a few agencies, The League for

          6  the Hard of Hearing being one of them, have tried to

          7  pick up the slack. The League runs a Saturday Old

          8  Timers Program and has done so for over ten years.

          9                 I will step away from my testimony

         10  for a minute. If you watched the news over the

         11  weekend, you saw a group of seniors having

         12  Thanksgiving Day dinner on TV, having a wonderful

         13  time together.

         14                 This past Saturday the League had its

         15  old timers Thanksgiving Day dinner, we had 35

         16  seniors there with roast turkey in a room that is

         17  accommodating their hearing needs so they could

         18  communicate, staffed by people who were trained to

         19  communicate and be sensitive to their needs.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And where did

         21  that take place?

         22                 MR. MULLER: At the League for the

         23  Hard of Hearing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And where is

         25  that?
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          2                 MR. MULLER: That is 71 West 23rd

          3  Street in Chelsea.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: 23?

          5                 MR. MULLER: 23rd Street, in Chelsea.

          6                 About 30 elderly deaf people attend

          7  these programs and report to us that for the most

          8  part ours is the only program they attend where

          9  there is communication accessibility, sensitive and

         10  trained staff and active participation.

         11                 The League has not received funding

         12  from the Department for this Program, nor have we

         13  specifically requested funding for the program,

         14  during my time as Executive Director, which is five

         15  years.

         16                 When the League met with the

         17  Department, we were basically advised that other

         18  access issues exist, that some of the senior centers

         19  are not even wheelchair accessible, however some

         20  are. We believe that seniors with hearing loss is

         21  the only group that has been totally ignored for

         22  whom no accommodations have been made, and for whom

         23  no plans to improve the situation exist.

         24                 Lastly, we have eight vinuets from

         25  seniors with hearing loss and limited income, which
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          2  I did not distribute, for whom the League provided

          3  assistance at reduced or no cost.

          4                 The need for this assistance is

          5  growing yearly. The League needs assistance from the

          6  City to be able to meet the need, not only at senior

          7  centers, but throughout senior services.

          8                 We hope this hearing results in

          9  positive change for seniors with hearing loss, and

         10  for support for agencies capable of serving their

         11  needs.

         12                 Please invite us in to work together,

         13  providing the funding necessary to change the

         14  situation, an embrace the mandates of the Americans

         15  With Disabilities Act.

         16                 There are several vinuets here

         17  describing people well over seventies who have

         18  multiple medical disabilities and hearing

         19  disabilities for whom their money is not sufficient.

         20                 Each of these people received

         21  financial assistance from the League for the Hard of

         22  Hearing, because we could find no other place they

         23  could go to get this financial assistance.

         24                 This assistance is to provide repairs

         25  for broken hearing aids, replacing ear molds that
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          2  are no longer appropriate for the seniors, and

          3  helping them receive the hearing testing they need

          4  and hearing aid evaluations they need.

          5                 Medicare does not cover hearing aids.

          6  All of the seniors that you mentioned in your

          7  statistics have nowhere to go for help with their

          8  hearing aids. I think we should also look at that

          9  issue.

         10                 I have copies of the letters I

         11  referred to, I have references from the ADA with me,

         12  and I have the testimony we have presented to the

         13  Department over the many years with me.

         14                 I also have a copy of the curriculum

         15  that was presented in 1981 which you will hear about

         16  by one of our speakers, which talks about the

         17  opportunities to work together and what is needed

         18  and which I mentioned was never followed through

         19  with.

         20                 So, I thank you again for this

         21  opportunity.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, will you

         23  stay there for a moment, please?

         24                 MR. MULLER: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I just want to
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          2  thank our Counsel, Heather Galfunt, this nice young

          3  lady sitting to my side, for having organized this

          4  hearing. And I really am truly very sorry that it

          5  was never convened any time earlier than today.

          6                 I am appalled to realize that I have

          7  never considered hearing impairment as being one of

          8  the reasons perhaps that seniors do not even bother

          9  going to centers, although I should have been aware

         10  of it, but it is very subliminally implanted in my

         11  head, but I am also really sorry that you folks

         12  haven't contacted us or made a fuss or raised the

         13  devil with us at an earlier stage so we might have

         14  been able to cooperate with you, because I know very

         15  well your problem is something that will evoke

         16  support from not only every member of my staff, but

         17  also from everybody on the Committee and the members

         18  are assembling, and Council Member Thomas White from

         19  Queens has joined us, since I last introduced the

         20  staff members -- I mean the Council Members who are

         21  here.

         22                 So, I am glad you are here, and I

         23  open the floor to questions from my colleagues if

         24  they have any for you.

         25                 Colleagues, do you have any
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          2  questions? Hearing none, then I will ask you to just

          3  let the next speaker come forward and we will engage

          4  in repartee as we go forward in our conversations.

          5                 Ms. Lisa Hamlin, is she here please?

          6  And introduce yourself by name and organization,

          7  please.

          8                 MS. HAMLIN: My name is Lisa Hamlin, I

          9  work at the League for the Hard of Hearing, and I

         10  also thank you for the opportunity to speak here

         11  this morning. Already I have heard some very good

         12  things from the Council and I am very encouraged

         13  that this can go somewhere that will be good for us.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I also just

         15  want to interject before you begin, that I think

         16  that the Chairperson of the Committee on Health for

         17  the City Council would also be very interested in

         18  hearing from you and perhaps it might be that at a

         19  subsequent date, instead of just focusing on the

         20  needs of the elder citizens, hearing impairment as a

         21  health problem might be brought to the attention of

         22  Council Member Victor Robles, who is our chair of

         23  that Committee.

         24                 I am sorry, go ahead, please.

         25                 MS. HAMLIN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And excuse me.

          3  Karen Koslowitz, my colleague from Queens, is here.

          4  So, Queens is very heavily represented, we have one

          5  lost soul from Brooklyn here.

          6                 I am sorry, go ahead, Ms. Hamlin.

          7                 MS. HAMLIN: Okay. Again, my name is

          8  Lisa Hamlin, I am the Access and Advocacy

          9  Coordinator and I am the Coordinator of the Center

         10  for Health Care Access at the League for the Hard of

         11  Hearing.

         12                 Now, the Center for Health Care

         13  Access also deals with issues of getting access to

         14  hospitals and health care facilities, mental health

         15  facilities, for people who are hard of hearing and

         16  deaf. So we are well aware of that issue as well.

         17                 What I do all day long is I advocate

         18  for people who are hard of hearing, deaf, and

         19  deaf-blind, in all aspects of their lives. I also

         20  work with Advocates for Better Communication, which

         21  is a volunteer organization allied with the League,

         22  to advocate for people with hearing loss. Currently

         23  I am working with Ruth Green from ABC Seniors

         24  Committee top promote awareness of hearing issues

         25  for older Americans.
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          2                 Dealing with issues that face people

          3  with hearing loss is not an intellectual exercise

          4  for me. I am myself hard of hearing. When I find

          5  that services are not accessible to older New

          6  Yorkers with hearing loss, I identify immediately

          7  with the problems they face. I understand not being

          8  able to hear clearly at a large meeting room. I

          9  understand the tendency to withdraw rather than

         10  appear stupid by asking the same question over and

         11  over, or worse, answering a question

         12  inappropriately.

         13                 I understand the kind of effort just

         14  to make sure you know what is going on around you.

         15  And I fear that when I am older, when I am no longer

         16  working and have the energy to fight the same

         17  battles over and over again, I will lose the desire

         18  to fight at all. When I am older I expect I will

         19  also be facing other real issues, which I am sure

         20  this Committee is familiar with, issues like whether

         21  or not I have income to cover both my rent and my

         22  food bills, whether I can afford the medical

         23  expenses I may well face, whether I will have the

         24  same vision and mobility I have now. I wonder if

         25  after all of those other fights I will have the
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          2  strength to fight to get communication access to the

          3  services I need, or whether I will simply opt to

          4  take any services I have with a smile and a nod,

          5  rather than risk causing trouble because I don't

          6  understand what is being said.

          7                 That is why I am here today, to fight

          8  this fight for all of the older New Yorkers whose

          9  energy is devoted simply by getting by each day.

         10                 Yet, it is untreated hearing loss

         11  that diminishes all other aspects of life, whether

         12  you are 22 or 92.

         13                 I have been living with hearing loss

         14  for 17 years now. I have been working at the League

         15  for almost five years. When I first came to the

         16  League I naively asked, why isn't it that we don't

         17  have a stronger connection to the Department for the

         18  Aging? I was told again and again that the reason

         19  was the Department put hearing loss last on their

         20  list. The Department taking that stand makes no

         21  logical sense to me. The statistics are clear. One

         22  in ten Americans has a hearing loss, which is

         23  certainly a significant number of people, but over

         24  65 years of age, that number shoots up to one in

         25  four, and increases again when someone hits 75 to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  one in three.

          3                 With those kinds of numbers it seems

          4  clear that a large number of people that the

          5  Department is mandated to serve, and we estimated in

          6  New York City it is approximately 300,000 people, so

          7  as people who have some kind of hearing loss. Yet,

          8  they are forgotten again and again.

          9                 Now the Department rightfully boasts

         10  that many of their achievements, they can claim many

         11  accomplishments, but can they tell us what they have

         12  done for seniors with hearing loss?

         13                 The Department tells us they funded

         14  and monitored 335 senior centers in New York City.

         15  How many of those are accessible to people with

         16  hearing loss? The Department has provided funding

         17  for 14 million meals, how many seniors can

         18  understand what the person is saying to them when

         19  they serve them food?

         20                 The Department provides 1,300,000

         21  hours of home care; how many hours of training of

         22  home care workers and communication skills have been

         23  provided?

         24                 The Department provided 760,000

         25  responses in information and referral queries, yet
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          2  how many referrals include TTY numbers? We don't

          3  know, because the Department doesn't keep those

          4  statistics. Even though many of their seniors they

          5  are serving are hard of hearing.

          6                 It is almost ten years after the

          7  Americans with Disabilities Act was signed into law,

          8  yet the Department has made little attempt to

          9  provide needed accommodations.

         10                 We ask that the City Council provide

         11  the Department with the kinds of guidance they need

         12  to provide access to senior centers. We ask that the

         13  City Council, in providing to the New York

         14  Department of Aging do the following:

         15                 That they ensure that every senior

         16  center in New York City comply with the Americans

         17  With Disabilities Act, by providing communication

         18  access as part of the Department for the Aging

         19  budget. This is the reason we get over and over

         20  again from senior centers they tell us that there is

         21  nothing in their budget to provide this

         22  communication access. It is time to provide that in

         23  the budget. We need you to ensure that every senior

         24  center provide training to staff regarding how to

         25  use and maintain such equipment. Equipment is of no
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          2  use unless somebody knows how to put it into place.

          3                 We need you to ensure that every home

          4  care worker receive training and the skills needed

          5  to communicate with people with hearing loss and

          6  those skills are easy if you know how to do it and

          7  they are impossible if you have no idea.

          8                 We need to ensure that every senior

          9  regard hearing health as important as their other

         10  health needs, by providing education and hearing

         11  testing as part of the Department for Aging budget

         12  and we need to assure that the Department for the

         13  Aging advocate for people with hearing loss by

         14  advocating for Medicare coverage for hearing aids

         15  for all New Yorkers.

         16                 I thank you very much for this

         17  opportunity to address the Council on this very

         18  important issue.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         20                 I am just curious to know, as I am

         21  listening, and I should have asked Mr. Muller

         22  before, how does your organization function

         23  financially? How do you maintain your organization?

         24  How do you provide for outreach to the communities?

         25  Such as you are doing today, for example, how do you
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          2  function and where do you get your money from, and

          3  why haven't you asked or why haven't you demanded

          4  for financial assistance to conduct your work?

          5                 MS. HAMLIN: We have asked. Can Mr.

          6  Muller come and address this more?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Sure, of

          8  course. Come on back.

          9                 MR. MULLER: Thank you for the

         10  question. The League is a not-for-profit

         11  organization, roughly half of our budget is through

         12  third-party payments, half of our budget is coming

         13  from donations, contributions, fund-raisers and

         14  grants.

         15                 The agency's mission is to, part of

         16  our mission is to promote hearing conservation and

         17  public education. To that end the agency has always

         18  devoted part of its budget to public education and

         19  information about hearing. Under that rubric, that

         20  is how we justify the expenses. However, I will say

         21  to you that without the generosity of some

         22  supporters, the League's ability to serve people who

         23  have no ability to pay, we provide hearing aids at

         24  no cost, at reduced cost, TTYs at no cost, reduced

         25  cost. It is only possible through contributions.
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          2                 And the other question you had, Ms.

          3  Harrison, was why haven't we come to you before?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, I am

          5  curious because we do have requests made to the

          6  Council, individual 51 members of us and

          7  collectively, on many occasions from organizations

          8  that feel they can't subsist without some kind of

          9  support, and we have been extremely open and

         10  responsive to their requests and I am just horrified

         11  to think that you folks who are handling such a very

         12  serious health problem are so quite and haven't

         13  raised hell yet. I am just curious to know how you

         14  manage to keep going without any other governmental

         15  support, let alone from the Council. So, what about

         16  the federal government? What about the State

         17  government?

         18                 MR. MULLER: The federal government

         19  really does not fund front-line deafs hard of

         20  hearing services.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, maybe it

         22  is time.

         23                 MR. MULLER: It is time.

         24                 Our efforts to reach our congress

         25  people about Medicare, in Maryland when I worked
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          2  there, in Florida when I worked there and now in New

          3  York, have fallen literally on deaf ears. They just

          4  don't think it is going to happen in Medicare.

          5                 In terms of City government, the

          6  League historically has not worked with City

          7  Council, it has worked with City Departments.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is there a

          9  prejudice with working with politicians or people

         10  who hold elective office?

         11                 MR. MULLER: No, Ma'am, not at all,

         12  and that is why we are here. I have been with the

         13  League for five years and established an agency

         14  somewhat like it in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, in

         15  1981, and the county government, or six or eight of

         16  the 31 cities in Brower County ended up helping us

         17  out. So, we finally -- I got my feet wet. I met with

         18  the head of the United Way when I got here, and Mr.

         19  Dickerson said, Keith, until you are here seven

         20  years nobody knows you exist. They don't take you

         21  seriously.

         22                 I am here five years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It depends on

         24  what you do in those first five.

         25                 MR. MULLER: Well, we are here today
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          2  so your sentiment and your opportunity to work with

          3  the Council is most welcome and warmly received. We

          4  need your help desperately.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, I am glad

          6  you came. Do any of my colleagues have any questions

          7  or comments? None, okay.

          8                 I certainly would say to you that the

          9  fact that DFTA has not found it possible or has not

         10  been more responsive to your request for providing

         11  hearing A-s or technicians or training its staff to

         12  be sensitive to the problems of hearing impaired

         13  persons is something that I think we have never

         14  discussed in DFTA, we have never even thought of it.

         15  So, that is to our shame, but we know we just never

         16  gave it any thought before. I am sure that we will

         17  in the future, especially when the budget comes up

         18  again, make a point of asking very pointed questions

         19  about where in the whole establishment does the

         20  hearing impaired question lie in their frame of

         21  reference. So, I think we will all work on that,

         22  okay?

         23                 Absolutely says my colleague

         24  question.

         25                 Would you please sit down. Don't run
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          2  away yet. Mike Nelson, Council Member, honorable.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I would like

          4  to know, are there any cases pending, since it

          5  appears that the Department of the Aging is on a

          6  compliance with ADA since 1990, '92 when it fully

          7  went into effect. Do you know if there are any cases

          8  pending from any organization on this?

          9                 MS. HAMLIN: Not that I am aware of. I

         10  think what you need to be aware of, though, is

         11  again, you look into what it means to have a hearing

         12  loss and what it means to be a senior. These people,

         13  for the most part people tend to withdraw rather

         14  than put together a court case. The court cases that

         15  I have seen, the people I have seen with hearing

         16  loss and to want to put a court case together, most

         17  recent with a young man who is a lawyer who is going

         18  to law school, he was the first person, the law

         19  school didn't comply with ADA in providing him

         20  access, but he was young, he is aggressive and he

         21  wants to be a lawyer. Most people with hearing loss

         22  would rather say, okay, I will take what I can get,

         23  rather than sue somebody for what I think I am

         24  entitled to.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: How many
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          2  people approximately do you service in the course of

          3  a year?

          4                 MS. HAMLIN: I think our numbers now

          5  are 28, 22,000 a year, 22,000 a year, individuals

          6  and their families with hearing loss. And that is in

          7  the metropolitan area. People actually come from all

          8  over to come to the League, and constantly we heard

          9  complaints in New Jersey, why don't we have another

         10  League in New Jersey --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, why don't

         12  we have one in the Borough of Queens, since Queens

         13  is so heavily represented at this table? I mean, you

         14  know, we have more than 2 million people in the

         15  borough of Queens and we sure must have our share of

         16  population which is hearing impaired, since we do

         17  have I think the largest population of senior

         18  citizens, so I think we are entitled to be

         19  privileged to have a branch of your organization or

         20  some kind of attention from an organization such as

         21  yours in the Borough of Queens, you know?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You could make

         23  a lot of noise, you seem to have a large advocacy

         24  group. Just check almost any wife you will probably

         25  find that their husband is hard of hearing, so that
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          2  would add another 3 or 4 million.

          3                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How does the

          5  League get funded.

          6                 MS. HAMLIN: I beg your pardon?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How does the

          8  League get funded? We all want to have chapters, did

          9  you discuss that before?

         10                 MS. HAMLIN: Mr. Muller just answered

         11  the fact that they are basically receiving

         12  contributions, donations and voluntary gifts and

         13  grants, but they haven't ever asked for any public

         14  support, not from any elected governmental body,

         15  which I think is most remarkable in today's age,

         16  when we are solicited for support from organizations

         17  representing groups of disabled persons.

         18                 MR. MULLER: You will hear about later

         19  today the mobile hearing testing van we have and

         20  from another agency that has testing vans. We have

         21  approached the Borough President's Office with some

         22  help and guidance.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Which borough?

         24                 MR. MULLER: Manhattan.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is there a
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          2  spokesperson here from the Borough President from

          3  Manhattan? Borough President Virginia Fields was

          4  supposed to be here, and I hadn't seen her. I

          5  thought maybe perhaps she had a representative here.

          6                 MR. MULLER: So we are working more

          7  vigorously to try to get support from the sources

          8  that exist, the City Council, the Borough President.

          9  We have been successful since '95 with the State

         10  Government, through a health care grant to address

         11  the issue you brought up before about hospital

         12  access. We have kids together.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You know, when

         14  you talk about hospital access, the last time when I

         15  chaired that Medical Alternatives Committee, one of

         16  the things that I had been told was that there was a

         17  movement in place to place a replica of an ear, is

         18  it being used in beds or overhead of people who are

         19  hearing impaired?

         20                 MR. MULLER: It is being used

         21  inconsistently.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I never saw it

         23  being used in my travels.

         24                 MR. MULLER: We had provided lots of

         25  training and the survey results you mentioned in
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          2  your comments about senior centers were also the

          3  same results we had from surveys we did from

          4  hospitals.

          5                 The staff would love to be able to

          6  serve this population much more effectively but they

          7  are not given the resources to do so.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: What does the

          9  resource consist of? Money for training? Is that

         10  such an expensive item?

         11                 MR. MULLER: I think it is an

         12  institutional change issue first above all.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: A mindset?

         14                 MR. MULLER: A mindset. People need to

         15  be thoughtful and not thoughtless of hearing loss.

         16  And I think our society as a whole still has a

         17  stigmata about hearing loss. And I think as most

         18  evidenced by former President Reagan and President

         19  Clinton who both wear hearing aids and who went

         20  through great ends to try to make that invisible so

         21  that their presidential leadership was not deemed

         22  weakened by hearing loss.

         23                 So, from the top down in corporate

         24  America as well, albeit there are some sunny

         25  examples of success in corporate America, by and
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          2  large it is still something we have to fight.

          3                 So, the first answer is institutional

          4  change, that we have to agree that hard of hearing

          5  deaf people need equal access and equal respect.

          6  Secondly then, it is simple. It is looking at what

          7  is available, which someone will testify today about

          8  how much it would cost to make some of the centers

          9  accessible, and then ongoing training and then some

         10  outreach and education on the part of consumers as

         11  to how to maneuver themselves in this sub

         12  bureaucracy, as well as in terms of the bureaucracy

         13  being more sensitive to the population. It certainly

         14  is not anything impossible.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 I do want to introduce Council Member

         18  Ronnie Eldridge who has joined us. She is a Council

         19  Member from the Borough of Manhattan, who is

         20  visiting with us this morning.

         21                 Ruth Green, would you please take the

         22  chair.

         23                 MS. GREEN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I just want to

         25  say, while Ms. Green is getting settled, some of my
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          2  colleagues have meetings across the other room, and

          3  some therefore will be flying back and forth between

          4  hearings, they can't spread themselves in half.

          5                 Ms. Green, pull the mic to your face,

          6  pull it down.

          7                 MS. GREEN: I am sorry, but I am

          8  having trouble with my hearing aid and the hearing

          9  device, so when I am finished, if anybody has any

         10  questions, I will ask my friends to help me out.

         11                 But I would just first of all like to

         12  thank you very much for permitting us to come and

         13  discuss the problems with people with hearing

         14  problems. I also want to say thanks to Heather, she

         15  has been fabulous.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I agree with

         17  you. Let's give her a raise the next contract.

         18                 MS. GREEN: She has been a tremendous

         19  help. I thought rather than read the testimony, if

         20  it is all right with you, what I would like to do,

         21  is with the help of some of the people at the

         22  League, I did a survey, we sent out a survey to the

         23  senior centers, and I thought you might be

         24  interested in the response that we received. We did

         25  two mailings. First of all, we got the list of the
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          2  senior centers from the Department of Aging. We sent

          3  out to the Borough of Manhattan 88 surveys. We,

          4  after two mailings we received 26 responses.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Not bad on

          6  average. It is not 88 but it is not too bad.

          7                 MS. GREEN: And what they had to tell

          8  us about the senior centers. Do you have people that

          9  come to your centers with hearing problems? Of the

         10  26, 26 said yes.

         11                 Could you tell us approximately how

         12  many people that come to your centers have a hearing

         13  problem? Eight of the centers said they had one to

         14  ten, four of the centers said ten to 20, five of the

         15  centers said 20 to 30 and the two said 30 or more.

         16  Then we asked them, do you have any of the following

         17  devices at the center? Amplified and hearing aid

         18  compatible Telefon (phonetic)? Zip. Nobody has

         19  Telefon that have seniors or people with hearing

         20  problems.

         21                 Then, do you have TTY? Of course

         22  nobody had TTY? And with the televisions that you

         23  have, do you have closed captioned, or captions, you

         24  know, at the bottom? Three of the 26 had it.

         25  Twenty-three do not have it.
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          2                 Then do you have, for example, if you

          3  have a meeting, do you have a hearing device or

          4  infrared or FM or anything like that? Nobody has

          5  anything. That is 26. I don't know what the rest

          6  have.

          7                 Do you show movies that are

          8  captioned? One shows movies with captions, 25 do

          9  not. Everybody sits around like a little dummy.

         10                 We also asked them if we could have,

         11  and the answer was send us some literature, we asked

         12  them if we could come and they were not very

         13  interested. That is what I think would be

         14  interesting.

         15                 We did go to three, four senior

         16  centers, whenever they schedule us, they schedule us

         17  right before lunch. And then after they schedule us

         18  right before lunch, they be sure to put us in the

         19  dining room, and everybody is looking for their

         20  friends and who they can sit with. So, as you can

         21  see, it was not terribly successful.

         22                 So, we now think that with your help

         23  maybe we can be more effective as volunteers.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You know, I

         25  don't know whether I should ask Ms. Green this
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          2  question or not, but you mentioned that you had 30

          3  people for Thanksgiving dinner who were hearing

          4  impaired, it seems like a very small number compared

          5  to the total even Manhattan-wide, and I am just

          6  struck by the fact that it may be cause to consider

          7  that one of the nine newly formed senior centers

          8  that we had authorized in the last budget might be

          9  identified for people who are hearing impaired and

         10  set up especially for the convenience of. I think

         11  that might be something we would want to discuss

         12  with DFTA. We do have nine new centers and I don't

         13  know if they have all been identified. And while I

         14  am taking the chair, let me just introduce both

         15  Margarita Lopez, who has joined us, a Council Member

         16  from Manhattan, and Howard Lasher, who is at the far

         17  end who is from Brooklyn. So, Brooklyn has two

         18  people now. And Council Member Tracy Boyland from

         19  Brooklyn. I didn't see you, I am sorry.

         20                 Thank you for being here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Madam chair?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Council Member

         23  White, yes, sir.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I need to know,

         25  what is TTY?
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          2                 MS. GREEN: TTY? I think I will let

          3  Keith explain it. It is a telephone that has a relay

          4  system.

          5                 MR. MULLER: Ruth could have done a

          6  very good job at this, she is just a little modest.

          7                 TTY is a telecommunication device for

          8  the deaf, which is basically a device with a

          9  keyboard and a modem that a hearing impaired person

         10  can use to communicate directly to someone else who

         11  has a TTY.

         12                 If you come into City Hall where we

         13  did this morning and up the elevator, instead of

         14  going left you go right, you will see a TTY sign at

         15  a pay phone, that payphone here in City Hall is TTY

         16  compatible.

         17                 It is a portable device, that helps

         18  hard of hearing deaf people and deaf-blind people

         19  use the telephone.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Can you tell us

         21  how it works?

         22                 MR. MULLER: I am not an engineer. We

         23  have someone testifying later on who will know more

         24  about how it works, and we have someone from a

         25  research project here also.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does someone in

          3  the audience know how it works?

          4                 MR. MULLER: It is very simple.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Why don't you

          6  take the chair. I just want to hear for all of our

          7  edification. It doesn't have to be hi-tech, just

          8  simple layman's language.

          9                 DR. BAKKE: My name is Matthew Bakke,

         10  I am the Executive Director of the Lexington Hearing

         11  and Speech Center.

         12                 A TTY operates much like a computer

         13  modem but it uses older technology. This is a

         14  technology that was developed by the telephone

         15  company back in, I would say the '50s, and it

         16  basically has a set of tones that go through the

         17  line, and each tone has its own characteristics that

         18  are interpreted as a letter of the alphabet so that

         19  if I push the letter A on my TTY, I have to couple

         20  it to a telephone either by putting it acoustically

         21  or by handset on the TTY, or I can directly connect

         22  into the TTY. When I push the letter A a

         23  characteristic tone is generated that goes through

         24  the telephone line and is picked up by the other TTY

         25  that interprets that, realizes it is an A and prints
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          2  an A on the screen and you can then type any message

          3  you want and there is a method, a very simple method

          4  for ensuring that you take turns when you speak.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

          6  much. That is the way my grandson communicates with

          7  his mother.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Lexington, that

          9  is in Queens, right?

         10                 MR. BAKKE: That is in Jackson

         11  Heights, in Queens, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Jackson

         13  Heights, I am sorry.

         14                 Another question. In terms of, I

         15  looked at the five areas of concern that I am quite

         16  sure we will take up with the Department of the

         17  Aging, how does one get access to medical assistance

         18  when they go to a hospital or to a clinic in an

         19  emergency room?

         20                 MR. MULLER: It is very uneven

         21  throughout the state and certainly the city, despite

         22  numerous attempts to train, unless the person is a

         23  self-advocate, self-educated customer, so-to-speak,

         24  or unless the facility is recently trained and the

         25  person that had the training is still on staff,
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          2  there is no institutionalized method existing in

          3  most hospitals to identify a patient with hearing

          4  loss.

          5                 We have a state grant called Center

          6  for Health Care Access, where we go to every

          7  hospital, gave them a kit. We have been to consumer

          8  groups and trained, identifying where to get the

          9  equipment necessary, a model of service, et cetera.

         10  We have sent a copy of that to every hospital in the

         11  state, and we continue to have state funding

         12  starting in 2000 again to promote that program

         13  because the state recognizes that by and large.

         14                 Now, the Health and Hospitals

         15  Corporation, for example, has received our kits, and

         16  some years ago we were trying to get more involved

         17  and have them adopt this curriculum and training for

         18  its staff, and because of the changes in health care

         19  it sort of trickled to the bottom of the priority

         20  list and has not been picked up.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: What I am

         22  saying, if there is a 911 call emergency?

         23                 MR. MULLER: 911, by federal law there

         24  has to be a TTY-compatible 911 response system. The

         25  deaf community of New York has been advocating for
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          2  that for a long time. I have not heard a complaint

          3  recently. I think the 911 enhanced system is

          4  operating in New York, so that if a 911 call goes

          5  through, it will be picked up by a TTY.

          6                 However, the problem with the 911

          7  system is that the public payphone situation is one

          8  in which there was a system adopted in which the

          9  League was not in favor of where there would be a

         10  sort of impulse and a coding system, if you punch 1

         11  it is for a fire truck, if you punch 2 it is for an

         12  ambulance. That is not a very effective pattern, and

         13  I have not seen if that has been implemented or just

         14  tabled.

         15                 But there is some attention needed to

         16  look at the emergency care of deaf and hard of

         17  hearing people.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes, because I

         19  mean, I am asking these questions because it is one

         20  thing, these questions being provided for access to

         21  home care and senior citizen centers and hearing

         22  devices, but when it comes to a life-threatening

         23  kind of situation, you know, someone suffers a heart

         24  attack and they are picked up and they get to an

         25  emergency room, how is that communication taken care
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          2  of?

          3                 MR. MULLER: Well, I will give you a

          4  similar example. We had a mother call us two weeks

          5  ago who had an adult deaf son who she reported was

          6  having tremendous difficulties. Our social worker

          7  got her on the phone and the son was able to come to

          8  the League. He communicated primarily in sign

          9  language and he was suicidal. He was going to jump

         10  in front of a train.

         11                 We sent him, ultimately we called 911

         12  and they came and they took him to one of our major

         13  city hospitals. Our social worker stayed and called

         14  the hospital to find out what they were going to do

         15  with him.

         16                 They interviewed this depressed,

         17  suicidal deaf patient by handwriting, through

         18  handwriting, and were going to send him home, even

         19  though he told us he wasn't going to go home, our

         20  social worker insisted.

         21                 This is very ironic because our

         22  social worker had been on the staff of this hospital

         23  for many years and herself had done the training and

         24  set up the model for treatment for deaf and

         25  hard-of-hearing people in that hospital. So, she was
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          2  totally dismayed at the response. She convinced them

          3  to keep him overnight and the team came in the next

          4  morning with an interpreter and admitted him.

          5                 So, the answer to your question,

          6  Councilman, is that the system is really not ready.

          7  And the problem we have with advocates is that the

          8  need for this type of readiness is not an every day

          9  occurrence in most facilities, so you can train, but

         10  if you don't have exposure to it on a daily basis,

         11  you become careless, you forget about it, you don't

         12  have this system, you don't know where the phone

         13  number is to call. The effort to make this part and

         14  parcel of a care program is critically important.

         15  And that is the reason when someone suggested about

         16  having one center accessible for deaf and hard of

         17  hearing people, that most of the advocates speaking

         18  with you today would not always be in favor of that,

         19  because ADA requires equal access to services no

         20  matter where you are.

         21                 Now, certainly to have a center, one

         22  center, one per borough, that has most of the

         23  devices and programs and trained staff necessary

         24  might be something to pursue and discuss as a model

         25  to follow, but that would only be supported by us,
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          2  if indeed every other center still had to be

          3  accessible.

          4                 There is no reason why a center can't

          5  have a caption, a TV that is captioned, and in fact

          6  all centers will eventually, because all TVs now

          7  have captions built in. But the staff has to be

          8  sensitive to know to turn it on. It is there on your

          9  TV at home, if you bought one since 1993, it has

         10  captioning on it, but you may not know it exists

         11  because you don't use it, but it is built in. So

         12  there are lots of things like this that could

         13  happen.

         14                 So, a mixed bag in terms of what

         15  might be better for the community. We only serve 30

         16  people because that is all the room our space

         17  provides. We would love to expand and operate a

         18  larger program.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Perhaps what I

         20  could do is modify my concept about the one of the

         21  nine centers being specifically geared to accept

         22  what you are saying, in other words, a long term and

         23  a short term solution to a problem that is not being

         24  addressed at all --

         25                 MR. MULLER: Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So a short term

          3  solution might be to establish a center because you

          4  know darn well it is going to take time to get into

          5  the various centers and train staff and funding, et

          6  cetera.

          7                 Our first Council Member, Margarita

          8  Lopez, would like to speak.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes, I just

         10  have a couple of questions.

         11                 Do you know, does anyone here know

         12  what is the explanation that Medicaid has not to pay

         13  for hearing aids?

         14                 MR. MULLER: Let's correct that.

         15  Medicaid in New York State does pay for hearing

         16  aids. Medicare does not pay for hearing aids.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Medicare, okay.

         18                 MR. MULLER: And the explanation for

         19  that is by act of congress Medicare was established

         20  in the fifties, hearing aids were specifically

         21  referred to as a non-medically necessary prosthetic

         22  device.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: A non what?

         24                 MR. MULLER: Non-medically necessary.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And that has

          3  not been reviewed?

          4                 MR. MULLER: I have failed totally in

          5  my advocacy efforts, as anyone else has in America,

          6  to get that changed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What was the

          8  resistance to this?

          9                 MR. MULLER: Hearing loss is the

         10  primary disability, largest population of people in

         11  America have a hearing loss compared to any other

         12  disability. The common response is that it is too

         13  expensive. So, rather than to do an implementation,

         14  a phased in plan, rather than to tackle the problem

         15  with some rational approaches, the leaders of our

         16  government so far, at least I have not been

         17  successful at convincing them otherwise, they always

         18  refer me back to HCFA, Health Care Finance

         19  Administration. They say it needs an act of

         20  congress, so you go back to your congressman and

         21  they send it to HCFA. So, we are pursuing that

         22  slowly and steadily. We are going to break that

         23  barrier, but we are nowhere near it yet.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I think perhaps

         25  the Council members who are participating in this
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          2  hearing will help you by agitating with their own

          3  congresspersons. I will certainly will in my

          4  district.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Absolutely. I

          6  mean, we can help you from here pushing and putting

          7  pressure on the delegation that comes from New York

          8  City on that issue.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: They may not

         10  even be that sensitive to it, they may not be aware

         11  of the problem.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         13                 My other question, do we know if any

         14  medical service exists that goes center to center

         15  testing the hearing of the seniors?

         16                 MR. MULLER: Our colleagues from

         17  Lexington Center have a mobile van that is funded

         18  partly through the state and other private funding

         19  that does work in several boroughs for many years.

         20  The League has two mobile vans that go about the

         21  City and the Metropolitan area, sometimes supported

         22  by corporate dollars for public screening days.

         23                 The proposal we have presented to the

         24  Borough President's Office two weeks ago and last

         25  year was one in which we would experiment with the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  model of a van going to senior centers to start to

          3  get some data on what is necessary, can you really

          4  dispense from the van, can you do something with the

          5  portable audiometer - there has to be some attention

          6  given to this. So, we have a proposal together and I

          7  am sure Dr. Bakke also would be glad to work with

          8  you all, as anyone in serving this population

          9  throughout the City would want to do. Everyone

         10  recognizes this as a problem.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have a reason

         12  to ask you this question then. Help me and I am

         13  going to help you. Believe me.

         14                 MR. MULLER: Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am going

         16  somewhere with my questions to you and what I want

         17  to know is exactly how this van operates, where it

         18  goes, where it doesn't go and why it goes to some

         19  places, and to other places no? Can you give me that

         20  information?

         21                 MR. MULLER: The reason it doesn't go

         22  to all places is lack of financing.

         23                 The reason it goes only to some

         24  places is the fact that we only have two vans and

         25  all doors aren't open to us. Some people are
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          2  receptive, some aren't.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Why the doors

          4  are not open to you?

          5                 MR. MULLER: Too difficult to do. The

          6  person might not be responsive to the need, or

          7  perhaps we can't find other funding. We have been

          8  there once, they wanted to come back. There is a

          9  whole myriad of reasons, but the most glaring reason

         10  is I think limited resources. Everybody wants the

         11  service but no one can pay for it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

         13                 MR. MULLER: And the van is staffed

         14  by, our vans are staffed by clinical audiologists,

         15  with a complete sound testing booth on the van.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Who gives you

         17  the funding right now?

         18                 MR. MULLER: Right now our van is

         19  funded partly through Medicaid, when we do complete

         20  evaluations on the van, and the van is funded

         21  through private corporate donations, for example,

         22  certain banks and brokerage houses have, part of

         23  their hearing conservation, the van goes to their

         24  company, parks in front and advertises that they are

         25  doing it for their employees, and they also sponsor
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          2  public screening days.

          3                 We are very concerned, however, as

          4  mandatory Medicaid managed care rolls out in New

          5  York State and New York City particularly, that the

          6  Medicaid funding we have had for the van will stride

          7  up, because, again, hearing has not been adopted by

          8  the managed care community as something that is very

          9  important. They take their lead from Medicare. If

         10  Medicare doesn't recognize it, insurance doesn't

         11  recognize it.

         12                 Our own insurance company doesn't

         13  recognize it as a lead, so I can't get hearing aids

         14  for my employees.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I see. I am

         16  aware that I am deaf in one ear, and I had to pay

         17  for my treatment in regard to hearing aids and any

         18  other tests that I had to do for my hearing.

         19                 One last statement that I want to

         20  make is, people who become deaf are resistant to

         21  believe that. And maybe the reason why you receive

         22  so little responses to your request of people not

         23  answering you was because people don't even

         24  recognize that they have the problem with hearing,

         25  and that is part of the issue that maybe we should
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          2  explore to identify really in the senior centers who

          3  is suffering from this issue and how we can help

          4  them to have a better quality of life.

          5                 MR. MULLER: Part of the testimony you

          6  will hear later is the results of our mobile hearing

          7  testing van data, which will show you graphs of the

          8  increase in failure rates of people, especially

          9  seniors, who are taking the hearing screening. So, I

         10  think this will illuminate the problem very clearly.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Council Member

         12  Boyland, please.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Hi. Welcome.

         14  I am just sort of piggy-backing off of statements

         15  made earlier by my colleagues but it is really

         16  shocking to me that Medicare is not kicking in the

         17  way that they should. I mean, we spent an entire, I

         18  mean with the transformation with the HMOs, I mean

         19  everyone was lobbying every senior center, I mean

         20  they were calling their offices and I know everyone

         21  got the calls that they wanted to get in. DFTA was

         22  trying to hold them back so they wouldn't come in to

         23  over lobby our seniors and to hear that there was

         24  not the kind of assistance given to you on this

         25  particular issue is very shocking.
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          2                 Have you reached out to, I know you

          3  are here now so we welcome you, but have you put

          4  together like a strong advocacy team to go into the

          5  elected officials, to go into some of the HMOs and

          6  say you need to fund us, Oxford, Health Care Plus, I

          7  mean a number of HMOs that could actually reach out

          8  and have the funding to support you on this issue.

          9                 I mean, where are you in your

         10  negotiation stages? Is there some sort of movement

         11  that you are making besides this first step here?

         12                 MR. MULLER: On the state level I am

         13  co-chair of the New York State Rehab Association's

         14  Deaf and Hard of Hearing Focus Group, which has been

         15  working with the Attorney General to try to make

         16  sure Oxford pays for sign language interpreters for

         17  deaf enrollees. Oxford is the only HMO that so far

         18  is paying for interpreters and they are doing that

         19  inconsistently, and they are only doing it because

         20  the Attorney General made them do it.

         21                 The statewide focus group is

         22  continuing to work with the Attorney General's

         23  office on that issue.

         24                 In the New York City area we are

         25  participating in a coalition of agencies of mental
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          2  health providers for deaf and hard of hearing

          3  people, because of the special needs plans that are

          4  unfolding for mental health patients in New York

          5  State.

          6                 I am very concerned that the mental

          7  health of deaf and hard of hearing people will be

          8  sacrificed because of well-intentioned contracts,

          9  but no enforcement of the provision for equal

         10  access. We are meeting today with OMH.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: How much

         12  would it take, give me an estimate of how much it

         13  would take, and I am sure you guys sat down and

         14  plugged the numbers in, to do the five boroughs in

         15  New York City or New York State? How much would it

         16  take for your advocacy groups to reach out or your

         17  organization to reach out to all of those,

         18  especially the senior centers that are requiring

         19  that because I know you should have those numbers.

         20                 MR. MULLER: I am only familiar

         21  financially with the League's operating cost, in

         22  terms of staffing a small mental health center.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And how much

         24  would that be?

         25                 MR. MULLER: Roughly $250,000.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I mean that

          3  is not a --

          4                 MR. MULLER: Thank you. Thank you. I

          5  have always said there is money in government, we

          6  just have to find a way to get it. In your eyes it

          7  is not large money, but for the providers at

          8  Lexington Mental Health Center, at New York

          9  Presbyterian, one of the leaders of our group said

         10  recently, it is too bad we have to work so hard to

         11  help people. We have the staff. The problem with the

         12  HMOs, that they are not going to find qualified

         13  staff, we are having a hard time finding mental

         14  health experts in deafness to do our work.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: They contract

         16  out to you.

         17                 MR. MULLER: But they are not there to

         18  contract. They are hard to find. We need a lot of

         19  issues here. So, for the HMOs to become accessible

         20  this way is almost going to be impossible.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: $250,000 to

         22  do the services that are provided, I mean that is

         23  just a drop in the bucket in terms of the needs, the

         24  outreach that should be there.

         25                 MR. MULLER: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 MR. MULLER: You are welcome.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And stay where

          6  you are, sir, because you just led into my

          7  introduction of Council Member Lucy Cruz, who is the

          8  Chairperson of the Council's Committee on Mental

          9  Health, Mental Retardation, and I don't know what

         10  else it is. It is a very long title, but Council

         11  Member Cruz will introduce the title of her subject.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I think I will

         13  change my name to Council Member Una Clarke and

         14  remain in Brooklyn. Bronx has built a bridge.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, I am sorry.

         16  I don't know why I do that. Una Clarke. I do that

         17  every damn time, I am so sorry. It is Una Clarke, it

         18  is not Lucy Cruz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: That's okay. I

         20  can be compared to any colleague who works hard.

         21                 My name is Una Clarke and I am the

         22  Chair of the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

         23  Retardation, Developmental Disabilities and

         24  Substance Abuse Services, that is why the name is so

         25  long, I have all of the good package for people who
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          2  really need support.

          3                 And for the issue of mental health

          4  and for the hearing impaired, I would like to be

          5  able to sit and talk to you more about that in

          6  detail. But I did want to ask you, have you worked

          7  closely with the audiology department in the

          8  Department of Health to be able to reach out,

          9  especially to the elderly. I know there was a time

         10  when they were going to day care schools for young

         11  people, why not the elderly, and is there a way to

         12  make sure that that agency responds to the needs of

         13  the hearing impaired?

         14                 MR. MULLER: Are you talking about the

         15  New York City or New York State?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I am staying

         17  with New York City for now because we have an

         18  obligation to those who live in our City.

         19                 MR. MULLER: No. The answer is no. We

         20  haven't been successful. Even though printed

         21  documents indicate that hearing and vision are the

         22  primary care issues that need first attention. We

         23  know from experience the hearing and vision is not

         24  getting attention.

         25                 In terms of the hard of hearing
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          2  communities who are older, unfortunately because of

          3  other important needs, as Lise Hamlin testified to,

          4  when AARP does its surveys, hearing loss does not

          5  appear as a top issue for them. Doctor choice,

          6  prescription drugs, housing, safety, these things,

          7  Social Security, preservation, these are the things

          8  that elderly people have to prioritize.

          9                 So even though we know how vital

         10  hearing is, because of other pressing needs, as Lise

         11  and Ruth said, people learn to live with what they

         12  have instead of speaking up.

         13                 If indeed we are successful through

         14  this hearing to bring more attention to hope for

         15  people with hearing loss, you will see people come

         16  out of the woodwork for help.

         17                 The reason I say that is, the

         18  experience I had in Florida, we are working now with

         19  the Statewide group to try to make the state provide

         20  for free TTYs and amplified telephones for citizens

         21  of New York State who are deaf and hard of hearing,

         22  California, Texas, Florida, have the kind of

         23  programs we are modeling after. Twenty-three other

         24  states have programs like this. New York does not.

         25                 Once those states made these programs
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          2  available, the hard of hearing population came like

          3  crazy to have amplified telephones so they could

          4  talk to their grandchildren, to their families in

          5  other states.

          6                 So, I know from a fact, if a program

          7  becomes knowledgeable about it, visible, it has

          8  hope, you are going to see the response. The problem

          9  we are having now is trying to get that glimmer of

         10  hope, and I think talking with you and the Council

         11  people this morning gives us more hope than I came

         12  in the room with. So, I am hopeful that we can have

         13  this dialogue and look at the City as an entity and

         14  do a Citywide plan to serve the needs of children,

         15  adults and teenagers with hearing loss, because the

         16  City has not been asked perhaps by us to do so, and

         17  the City has not generated that interest

         18  spontaneously. So I would like to have that

         19  relationship work.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I would just

         21  like to recommend to the chair that we do a joint

         22  hearing at the Department of Health, because they

         23  have a Department of Audiology and we need to know

         24  how that is being utilized, what kind of resources

         25  they have, and what do they do with the resources
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          2  they have, and if they don't have and they have the

          3  Department, that we should be funding it and making

          4  it accessible, especially to the elderly, and I will

          5  work very closely with you, since I am both on

          6  Health and on Mental Health.

          7                 MR. MULLER: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: We had

          9  mentioned, Council Member Clarke, that we should

         10  really have a hearing with Victor Robles' Committee

         11  on Health as well, because this is a problem that

         12  affects our communities beyond just the senior

         13  centers, and beyond the senior population. So, I

         14  will be happy to work with you on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         18                 I would like to call Mr. Bakke,

         19  Matthew Bakke, to the chair.

         20                 DR. BAKKE: Yes, hello. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

         22  welcome.

         23                 DR. BAKKE: I am here because my

         24  colleague Keith Muller asked me, informed me of this

         25  meeting and asked me to come and speak to you. I am
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          2  from the Lexington Hearing and Speech Center, that

          3  is in Jackson Heights, New York. This is an

          4  affiliate of the Lexington School for the Deaf,

          5  Center for the Deaf.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: It is not the

          7  same thing?

          8                 DR. BAKKE: It is in Jackson Heights.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is that the

         10  identical thing, two organizations? Are they one?

         11                 DR. BAKKE: There are actually five

         12  corporations, but they are all affiliated.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         14                 DR. BAKKE: So you can think of it as

         15  a unit.

         16                 I am the Director of Research for the

         17  Center, and I am the Executive Director for the

         18  Hearing and Speech Center, these are two different

         19  operations.

         20                 In the research area we receive

         21  federal monies through the Department of Education,

         22  specifically the National Institute on Disability

         23  and Rehabilitation Research. These monies are used

         24  for, and we have a subcontract with the League for

         25  the Hard of Hearing on that grant. These monies are
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          2  for various technology and training issues, for

          3  people who are hearing impaired in general.

          4                 Within the hearing and speech center,

          5  we have two sources of funds that deal specifically

          6  with hearing loss and aging. One is the UJA

          7  Federation, they provide us with about $20,000 a

          8  year, in targeted grant funds. We have been

          9  traditionally getting these, we have to apply each

         10  year, and we use these funds for doing hearing

         11  screenings and some in-service training in senior

         12  centers throughout mostly in Queens, but throughout

         13  the City.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Twenty-thousand

         15  dollars is a lot of money, but it is not really a

         16  lot of money is it?

         17                 DR. BAKKE: It's not.

         18                 We also last year got $20,000 from

         19  the Department for the Aging, and this year that

         20  went down to $15,000. This money comes through a

         21  member item in Queens. And I don't know a lot of the

         22  details for this. I have been at the Center in my

         23  research capacity about six years, but I just took

         24  over the hearing and speech center about one year

         25  ago, and I am learning a great deal, and I look
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          2  forward to working with Keith on advocacy issues,

          3  which is something that is relatively new to me

          4  personally.

          5                 In any case, in our contact with

          6  senior centers throughout the Metro area,  we have

          7  observed several areas of need that are not

          8  currently being adequately met, and some of these

          9  have been mentioned before.

         10                 But perhaps primarily the failure to

         11  provide acceptable, acoustically acceptable

         12  environments for educational and recreational

         13  activities. The rooms in which we often present

         14  information are extremely reverberant and noisy

         15  places.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And are those

         17  rooms similar to those that would occur under the

         18  flight of an airplane, as they do from LaGuardia

         19  Airport in Jackson Heights?

         20                 DR. BAKKE: Well, typically that is

         21  not the source.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Acoustically.

         23                 DR. BAKKE: Acoustically acceptable,

         24  really I am referring to two things: One, that there

         25  is too much reverberation in the room, such as a
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          2  cafeteria, which you are familiar with.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          4                 DR. BAKKE: Many times we need to do

          5  presentations, and the only room available to us is

          6  a cafeteria with acoustically very reflective walls,

          7  and this makes it very difficult for even people

          8  with normal hearing to hear, no less people with

          9  hearing loss, and the noise comes from various

         10  activities that are taking place in the room from

         11  the banging of things and the side conversation.

         12                 Some of this could be helped

         13  dramatically with a very simple and inexpensive

         14  technology, sound field amplification. Just

         15  providing a little bit of amplification in the room

         16  in some cases can be very helpful and is not

         17  available, it is a very simple --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Are we focusing

         19  now primarily on educational facilities? Is that

         20  what you are making reference to? Or does this

         21  pertain to all kinds of facilities into which you

         22  go?

         23                 DR. BAKKE: Senior centers.

         24                 And typically they don't have really

         25  rooms that are appropriate for the presentation of
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          2  information. They are generally multiple use rooms.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

          4                 DR. BAKKE: And the multiple use rooms

          5  are really not acoustically acceptable, and there

          6  isn't any, for special events, a sound field

          7  amplification system which would be very inexpensive

          8  to put in, isn't available so that is like a minimum

          9  kind of thing.

         10                 We provide some hearing screening,

         11  the League provides some hearing screening through

         12  our sources of private funds and some state funds,

         13  but there isn't a real program, a plan of action

         14  that is Citywide to make sure that people are

         15  screened in senior centers and to make sure that

         16  their needs are met.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, perhaps

         18  what I could suggest to you and to Mr. Muller as

         19  well, and to all of the other organizations that are

         20  here, is that, you know, you coordinate with the

         21  various Council Members in the district. We have 51

         22  members, we cover the entire City of New York, and I

         23  am darn sure that you would get support from every

         24  Council member to whom you turn for assistance.

         25                 Okay, well, I will just cut it short
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          2  there. In summary, basically hearing screening and

          3  hearing health care education are two major

          4  components of a program that is greatly needed by

          5  seniors. But the provision of acoustically friendly

          6  environments, sound field amplification and some

          7  assistive listening devices, as well as perhaps

          8  captioning, are critical to the goal of promoting

          9  participation among seniors, many of whom are

         10  experiencing some degree of hearing loss, and those

         11  statistics you have heard.

         12                 But even perhaps more important than

         13  that, it is imperative that training of service

         14  providers who work with seniors at senior centers

         15  include an understanding of the hearing problems of

         16  older citizens and the technologies that are

         17  available for addressing them. This is really I

         18  think a very crucial issue.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         21  much. I do appreciate your having come down.

         22                 Charlotte Sinovoi, please. Charlotte?

         23  Oh, there you are. Okay.

         24                 MS. SINOVOI: Good morning. My name is

         25  Charlotte Sinovoi, and I am testifying on behalf of
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          2  the Joint Public Affairs Committee for Older Adults.

          3  JPAC is a social action coalition of older adult

          4  representatives, for more than 200 senior centers

          5  and community groups throughout the Metropolitan New

          6  York.

          7                 I am concerned not just for seniors

          8  but also for thousands of others who are affected by

          9  the lack of services for hearing impaired in New

         10  York City.

         11                 I would like to commend the Committee

         12  on Aging of the City Council of New York for taking

         13  the lead in investigating this lack of services for

         14  the hearing impaired and I thank you for this

         15  opportunity to testify.

         16                 According to the American Speech

         17  Hearing Association, 8 million Americans aged 65 and

         18  older, have a hearing loss. That is 23 percent of

         19  the senior population. For those over 75, that

         20  percentage jumps to 33 percent, or 5.5 million

         21  people. As compelling as these statistics are, these

         22  numbers are not what compel me to testify today. I

         23  am here because I suffer from a hearing loss. I am

         24  here because I have many friends who suffer from

         25  hearing loss, and I do not know of any senior
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          2  centers that can accommodate our special hearing

          3  needs.

          4                 There is a vital need for special

          5  services for hearing impaired older adults, and

          6  these services must be implemented at the community

          7  level.

          8                 According to the Council of Senior

          9  Centers and Services, almost one out of five seniors

         10  utilize the City's 335 senior centers. Statistics

         11  tell us that a significant number of these seniors

         12  have or will have hearing loss, nevertheless, the

         13  vast majority of senior centers do not provide

         14  assistive listening systems or sign language

         15  interpreters.

         16                 Furthermore, senior centers do not

         17  have enough funding to train staff to outreach and

         18  communicate effectively with hearing impaired

         19  members. This means that in effect hearing impaired

         20  seniors are excluded from many of the social

         21  activities that promote general, physical and

         22  emotional health and well being.

         23                 Many seniors who have a diagnosed

         24  hearing loss are exiled from full participation in

         25  the rich social and educational program of the City
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          2  senior centers. Those seniors who have untreated

          3  hearing loss are at an even greater risk of social

          4  isolation.

          5                 In a recent report by the National

          6  Council on Aging, a survey of 2,300 hearing impaired

          7  adults, aged 50 and older, found that those with

          8  untreated hearing loss were likely to be depressed

          9  and suffer from anxiety.

         10                 Furthermore, these seniors were less

         11  likely to participate in organized social

         12  activities, compared to those who wear hearing aids.

         13                 It is crucial that seniors are

         14  educated about hearing health. It is crucial that

         15  seniors that suffer from hearing loss are diagnosed

         16  and treated, and it is crucial that seniors that

         17  suffer from hearing loss continue to have

         18  opportunities to participate fully in their

         19  communities.

         20                 Therefore JPAC recommends that the

         21  City Council provide funding for staff training,

         22  interpreters and assistive listening systems in all

         23  senior centers.

         24                 Furthermore, JPAC recommends that the

         25  City Council provide funding for educational and
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          2  outreach programs that promote health, hearing and

          3  treatment. Such programs should include regular

          4  hearing tests offered at senior centers, as well as

          5  information and referral materials.

          6                 In addition, all materials must

          7  include TTY phone numbers for access by hearing

          8  impaired seniors. In the season of Thanksgiving, I

          9  am thankful that my hearing loss has been diagnosed

         10  and treated, incidently, by the League of Hard of

         11  Hearing, thank you. And I am also thankful that my

         12  life is fairly full of family, friends and community

         13  activity. That safeguards me from the social

         14  isolation that hearing loss can bring.

         15                 My hope is that the City Council,

         16  through additional funding and outreach efforts, can

         17  provide the necessary assistance to those who suffer

         18  from hearing loss. Such assistance available in

         19  their local communities would enhance their quality

         20  of life and they would be truly thankful at this

         21  time of Thanksgiving.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: That is very,

         24  very lovely. Thank you so much.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 Let me just tell you folks on the

          3  main floor that we have been joined by folks up in

          4  the balcony who come from the Clara Barton High

          5  School in Brooklyn, and let me tell you folks from

          6  Clara Barton that we are a Committee of the Aging,

          7  Committee on Aging in the City Council, holding a

          8  hearing, for the first time in my experience, and I

          9  have been here for awhile, of persons who are

         10  hearing impaired and are learning much to our dismay

         11  that people who have hearing loss are really being

         12  isolated and cut out of involvement in everything

         13  that goes on around them, in the family, as well as

         14  in the community, as well as in entertainment

         15  fields, as well as in schools, as well as wherever

         16  they might find themselves. And I think the

         17  information we have heard so far from our witnesses

         18  has raised our consciousness to the point where we

         19  are willing to go to the next budget hearing which

         20  occurs for the budget coming up this coming year, to

         21  seek funding for relief in the form of educational

         22  monies for people who work with senior people,

         23  either in the hospital or in the home, when they go

         24  out to do home care delivery services or wherever

         25  the older persons may find, we have to really train
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          2  staff, we have to be sensitive to the need, we have

          3  to improve our facilities where hearing impediments

          4  exist, like large echo chambers where classes are

          5  being held, et cetera. We have a lot of work to do

          6  and I think that you will find it interesting if you

          7  stay around for a little bit and listen to what some

          8  of the other witnesses have to share with us. But in

          9  the meantime I am glad you are here. I welcome you.

         10  I offer you the courtesies of the room, such as you

         11  may wish to have, and thank you very much for being

         12  here. We are happy to have you. Thank you.

         13                 You are members of Councilwoman Mary

         14  Pinkett's district, as far as I know; is that

         15  correct? Do you folks know who your Councilwoman is?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, they are

         17  Mary, but most of them come from the 40th District,

         18  because that is where the borderline comes from, so

         19  many of them are from East Flatbush, others are from

         20  Crown Heights.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, this is

         22  Council Member Una Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So, for those

         24  of you who live in the 40th District, below Empire

         25  Boulevard, welcome.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Welcome,

          3  anyhow, wherever you are from. We are glad you are

          4  here. Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Madam Chair?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, I am sorry,

          7  Tom.

          8                 Council Member White.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: I think that so

         10  far up to this point there is a raising concern that

         11  I have, and that is the Americans With Disabilities

         12  Act, and how it is implemented, and what has it

         13  excluded. And I think that at the conclusion of all

         14  of the appropriate hearings that you deem necessary,

         15  that we draft a letter that can possibly be signed

         16  off by you in the Committee, the Chair, as well as

         17  the Council as a whole. And that we then forward

         18  that letter to Council representatives in the

         19  Congress and our representatives in the New York

         20  State Assembly, as well as the Senate, to let them

         21  know of our concern and our awareness that we want

         22  this issue addressed and we will continue to address

         23  the issue on a Citywide level.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Absolutely.

         25  That is a suggestion very well taken. Thank you,
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          2  Tom.

          3                 Okay, may we hear from Joshua Gendel,

          4  please.

          5                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good morning.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good morning.

          7                 MR. WILLIAMS: Actually, my name is

          8  Terrence Williams, and I will be reading testimony

          9  written by myself and Mr. Gendel.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you.

         11                 MR. WILLIAMS: I am the Coordinator of

         12  the Hearing Aid and Devices Dispensory at the League

         13  for the Hard of Hearing, and actually before I start

         14  the testimony, I just would like to go back to what

         15  Mr. Muller and Mr. Bakke spoke about, the TTYs, and

         16  I just wanted to mention that there is also

         17  available from the phone company something called

         18  the relay service.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: A who? A what?

         20                 MR. WILLIAMS: A relay service.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Relay service?

         22                 MR. WILLIAMS: Yes. It is where a

         23  person who uses a TTY needs to communicate with

         24  someone who does not have one, and so they call this

         25  relay service and there is an operator that
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          2  translates from text to voice so that they can use

          3  these services and communicate better.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Is that for an

          5  extra charge?

          6                 MR. WILLIAMS: No, actually no charge.

          7  It is a toll-free number you can call.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good.

          9                 MR. WILLIAMS: Also, I work firsthand

         10  with the old timers group, which is the senior group

         11  that meets with the League for the Hard of Hearing,

         12  and I can't tell you how grateful and appreciative

         13  they are that we provide this service where they can

         14  come and have full access for everything that is

         15  being provided, especially playing Bingo. They

         16  really like to be amplified and the room is looped

         17  so they can hear what is going on. I will go ahead

         18  and read the testimony.

         19                 The negative impact upon the quality

         20  of life of the hard of hearing population in

         21  general, and particularly the elderly hard of

         22  hearing population has been well documented.

         23  Individuals in these groups frequently describe

         24  feelings of withdrawal and isolation, they find they

         25  are unable to hear what is going on or have
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          2  difficulty in doing so. They often find themselves

          3  in situations where they are not functioning as well

          4  as they would like. Such individuals may interact

          5  while in quiet surroundings and when listening to

          6  people relatively close to them, however, when the

          7  distance of the speaker increases, or reverberation

          8  increases, more difficulties will be encountered.

          9                 What then can we do to help alleviate

         10  the situation? Fortunately the use of assistive

         11  living devices or ALDs, as I will call them further

         12  in the testimony, can make dramatic differences in

         13  the ability to comprehend speech in difficult

         14  listening environments. These devices are widely

         15  available and have been so for many years.

         16                 For example, the use of infrared wide

         17  area listening systems in Broadway theaters have

         18  been used for almost 20 years now with great

         19  success.

         20                 The use of personalized FM listening

         21  systems for students of all ages in the classroom is

         22  also commonplace.

         23                 In addition, home infrared

         24  transmitters and receivers for television viewing,

         25  as well as close captioning, have become more widely

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  used. Unfortunately, as accessible as all these

          3  devices are, it is still all too common to get into

          4  a senior center and observe individuals who are

          5  unable to participate in various activities because

          6  these devices simply are not available to them. Why

          7  should this be the case? ALDs have been around for

          8  quite some time now. There are a number of reasons:

          9                 First, individuals who are

         10  responsible for setting up and running senior

         11  programs may not be aware that the devices exist.

         12                 Further, they might have the

         13  misconception that ALDs are exceedingly expensive,

         14  while the cost of equipping the Metropolitan Opera

         15  House with an infrared system and close captioning

         16  is very expensive, the fact is that typical senior

         17  centers would not require as much equipment and

         18  therefore the cost would be significantly less.

         19                 In addition, by judiciously choosing

         20  the right equipment, it may be capable of serving a

         21  variety of purposes. For example, headsets that

         22  might be used to listen to television might also be

         23  used with an appropriate conference microphone

         24  transmitter in a small group meeting situation.

         25                 What would be the typical cost?
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          2  Before one can provide specific cost information, it

          3  would be necessary to carefully analyze each

          4  specific situation with regard to need, but the

          5  following examples provide at least a small ball

          6  park figure.

          7                 The transmitters being worn by the

          8  speaker will cost about $400, and each receiver worn

          9  by listeners would cost about $250. A small infrared

         10  transmitter can be attached to a television with an

         11  accompanying headset receiver and would cost about

         12  $239 and $155 for each receiver that is purchased to

         13  use with it.

         14                 Adding an infrared or FM system to an

         15  existing public address system or a small auditorium

         16  might range from $1,500 to $4,000, depending on the

         17  type of system and the number of headsets required.

         18                 So, in other words, we are looking at

         19  expenses that are much lower than 100 or 50 or even

         20  25,000 per center.

         21                 It is hoped that by increasing

         22  awareness of the significant benefit that ALDs can

         23  provide, more and more centers will obtain the

         24  necessary guidance and ultimately the appropriate

         25  equipment that will enable all of their members to
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          2  fully participate in the various activities they

          3  offer.

          4                 To this end, the League for the Hard

          5  of Hearing stands ready to provide whatever

          6  assistance it may need to reach this worthy goal.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I think that is

          8  very good testimony and I do appreciate the

          9  information you gave, especially in terms of

         10  specific costs for specific items. Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Are there any questions?

         13                 Yes, Mr. Lasher. Council Member

         14  Lasher.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Wouldn't it be

         16  smarter to try to organize all these together, get

         17  group discounts on the equipment and on the items

         18  that you need to make this happen and thereby safe

         19  an awful lot of money rather than having each unit

         20  go ahead back to its own people and then buy a unit,

         21  go back and have only a limited amount and not

         22  really accessing everybody?

         23                 MR. WILLIAMS: Absolutely. If perhaps

         24  all of the senior centers got together and purchased

         25  all of these items as a group, the price would
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          2  definitely drop. Because if you are buying of course

          3  things in larger numbers, the price goes down the

          4  more you buy. So that is absolutely a good idea.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LASHER: Keep up the

          6  good work.

          7                 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you, sir.

          9                 Dr. Bat-Chava.

         10                 DR. BAT-CHAVA: You have already heard

         11  this morning some statistics, mostly national

         12  statistics, there are 28 million people with hearing

         13  loss in the United States, we heard that people 65

         14  and over have a chance of having a hearing loss one

         15  in three, one in four people 75 and over have a

         16  hearing loss. But we also have some more specific

         17  information that may be more relevant to this

         18  hearing about New York State and New York City

         19  specifically.

         20                 There are no good statistics out

         21  there. Lisa Hamlin in her testimony mentioned

         22  300,000 people in New York City with hearing loss.

         23  American Speech Language Hearing Association in 1986

         24  estimated 750,000 people in New York City with a

         25  hearing loss, they also estimated 1.5 million people
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          2  in New York State with hearing losses, there are

          3  really no good numbers out there. So, maybe one

          4  mandate that we can hope the City Council and the

          5  Department of Aging to collect statistics from

          6  senior centers and from other organizations to know,

          7  maybe to get a better idea of how many people really

          8  we have who have a hearing loss.

          9                 In addition, we have some more

         10  current statistics from our mobile vans, the testing

         11  units, the vans that we have mentioned. The League

         12  has two of these. They are equipped with a

         13  soundproof booth and audiological equipment that

         14  enable our audiologists to go out and do both full

         15  hearing tests, as well a screenings. And we have a

         16  picture of one of our vans over here.

         17                 A screening is a short hearing test,

         18  where a person's hearing is tested at three or more

         19  speech frequencies, or pitches. The frequencies are

         20  presented at a level that a normal-hearing

         21  individual would usually hear, which is about 20

         22  decibels. If a person hears all of these three

         23  sounds, they are said to have passed the screening.

         24  If they fail to hear the three sounds, they are said

         25  to have failed the screening. And we know from
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          2  follow-up studies that about 80 percent, well over

          3  80 percent of people who failed screening have a

          4  real permanent hearing loss.

          5                 The vans provide screening to the

          6  residents of New York free of charge, as Keith

          7  mentioned before. Most of them are funded by

          8  corporate donations, sometimes companies want the

          9  hearing of their employees to be tested and so on.

         10                 So these vans park on the streets in

         11  various locations in all five boroughs around the

         12  City, places like Macy's or Kings Plaza, and many

         13  other popular going places, such as parks, and

         14  senior citizens, and passers-by invited to come on

         15  the van and get their hearing screened.

         16                 A person who fails the screening is

         17  then advised to go and get a full hearing test by a

         18  licensed audiologist who could give them a full

         19  audiological evaluation and the audiologist on the

         20  van would provide the person with a list of places

         21  that they could go to all around the City. We don't

         22  require that they come to the League.

         23                 We have been doing this for about 18

         24  years and have been collecting information from the

         25  people who come on the van for this amount of time,
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          2  and we get things like age and gender about these

          3  people. And recently we compiled information that we

          4  have been collecting since 1981 on the about 64,000

          5  people that have been screened, so we have been

          6  really screening the hearing of a lot of people in

          7  New York State, in New York City.

          8                 If I can have the first slide,

          9  please. Thank you. What you see here, the green line

         10  is the actual percent of people who failed the

         11  hearing screening, the access, the X access is the

         12  year, so you are starting from 1980 through the Year

         13  2000. And the Y access is the percent of people who

         14  failed the hearing screening. The top part of this

         15  class represents men, ages 80 to 89, and the failure

         16  rate. So you can see, for example, that in 1981, 50

         17  percent of men 80 to 89 years of age failed hearing

         18  screening.

         19                 You can also see that in 1998, last

         20  year 90 percent of men of this age group failed

         21  screening. There are just some variations, I don't

         22  think this is the major thing we need to be

         23  concerned about, because as you can see there are

         24  ups and downs. The red line is a hypothetical linear

         25  trend that we fix through the actual data. So you
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          2  can see there is a very strong trend going upwards.

          3  So, in this group, men 80 to 89 years old were

          4  finding a 40 percent increase in less than 20 years,

          5  so more and more people have a hearing loss.

          6                 The bottom side of this glass is for

          7  women, same age group, 80 to 89 years old. In 1981,

          8  about 40, less than 40 percent of them failed

          9  screening and in 1998, 90 percent of them 95 percent

         10  of them failed screening.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER HARRISON: Have you

         12  identified any causes for the increase in hearing

         13  loss, as external to the physical being?

         14                 DR. BAT-CHAVA: We have hypotheses

         15  about that. We know that people are living longer

         16  and healthier lives, so it doesn't have to do with

         17  general health, because people are living longer.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Might it be the

         19  result of external noises?

         20                 DR. BAT-CHAVA: We think that it

         21  probably has to do with exposure to environmental

         22  noise, and that our environment is more noisy today

         23  than it used to be. That is one hypothesis.

         24                 Another hypothesis is that people are

         25  taking more medications today, and there might be an
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          2  effect of this medication on their hearing. We don't

          3  really know. We do suspect that it has to do with

          4  environmental noise.

          5                 If you take a look at the next graph,

          6  we see a very similar picture in people, 70 to 79

          7  year old. Somewhat less severe, but, again, very

          8  clearly New York trend going up from 20 years ago to

          9  today.

         10                 And then finally the last graph shows

         11  a very, again a very similar picture in people 60 to

         12  69 years of age. The trend is less severe the

         13  younger people are and we think that because this

         14  has to do with environmental noise, it just takes a

         15  long time for the effect of noise to impact people's

         16  hearing. So the older the seniors we are looking at,

         17  the more and more hearing loss we are seeing.

         18                 But whatever the reason for the

         19  increase in hearing loss, as I said, despite living

         20  longer and healthier lives, more and more seniors

         21  have a hearing loss, and therefore, more and more

         22  seniors need both hearing-related services, as well

         23  as access to programs that are designed for people

         24  who are older, and these seniors need your help to

         25  get these services, which will keep them from
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          2  getting isolated and depressed and will enable them

          3  to continue to participate actively in their

          4  families and their communities.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, I think

          7  you have been very, very helpful, and very, very

          8  good specifically with the charts as well, and the

          9  impact that the people have in the Borough of Queens

         10  is such that where I come from, being in the flight

         11  pattern of the planes that come over your head every

         12  30 seconds, you know, doesn't do my hearing any good

         13  either.

         14                 DR. BAT-CHAVA: Absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Although, I

         16  think I still can hear.

         17                 But thank you very much for your

         18  testimony, Doctor.

         19                 DR. BAT-CHAVA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: And is Mr.

         21  Gordon, Joseph Gordon here? Please.

         22                 MR. GORDON: Good morning.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Good morning,

         24  sir.

         25                 MR. GORDON: My name is Joseph Gordon.
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          2  I really want to start off by thanking you for

          3  having the assistive listening devices here today. I

          4  started to listen to this hearing without a device,

          5  and what I call distance amplification, or distance

          6  distortion, I did not understand every word, and as

          7  soon as I put this device on I felt terrific that I

          8  could hear every word and understand every word.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, maybe I

         10  should have one too.

         11                 In fact, really I miss a lot of

         12  words, too, so I don't know whether my hearing is

         13  going or not.

         14                 MR. GORDON: My name is Joseph Gordon,

         15  and I want to thank you for this opportunity to

         16  speak to you. I also want to thank the League for

         17  Hard of Hearing. The League does wonderful work on

         18  behalf of people with hearing loss. In fact, the

         19  League is a sponsor of two chapters of my

         20  organization, which I will describe.

         21                 I am profoundly hard of hearing. I

         22  wear two hearing aids and use assistive devices. I

         23  am the New York State Chapter Coordinator for

         24  Self-Help for Hard of Hearing People. We are an

         25  international organization dedicated to the welfare
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          2  and interest of those that cannot hear well. We have

          3  250 chapters in the United States, we have 17

          4  chapters in New York State, which includes one in

          5  Brooklyn, one in Staten Island and two in Manhattan.

          6                 Our membership includes people that

          7  are hard of hearing of all ages, their families and

          8  friends. And we practice education, self-help, and

          9  advocacy.

         10                 Specifically I would like to ask you

         11  to provide hearing accessibility and related

         12  services for hard of hearing people in three areas:

         13  At senior centers, at New York City facilities, and

         14  New York City programs.

         15                 I would like to highlight the needs

         16  of senior citizens because as a group they have the

         17  largest percentage of hearing loss.

         18                 Allow me to talk to you for a moment

         19  about the needs for assistive listening devices.

         20  Many people who do not have a hearing loss believe

         21  that wearing hearing aids is similar to wearing eye

         22  glasses. In other words, the loss is entirely

         23  corrected. However, this is not so.

         24                 Let me stay with the eyeglass

         25  analogy. Eyeglasses can correct, in many cases,
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          2  three vision problems - near, far or a combination,

          3  as in bifocals. A hearing aid is not like

          4  eyeglasses. It cannot correct the distance hearing

          5  problem. We need assistive listening devices to work

          6  with our hearing aids when we want to hear at a

          7  distance.

          8                 For example, at meetings when a

          9  speaker uses a microphone, which produces the

         10  amplification, this is not sufficient for a hard of

         11  hearing person to hear and understand well. This is

         12  where we need assistive listening devices.

         13                 The distance from the speaker to the

         14  hard of hearing person creates distortion and

         15  clarity is poor. We might misunderstand the word,

         16  when my wife says go get the flashlight, go get the

         17  fast light, I am confused. Do we hear get me the

         18  dish or get me the fish? Or do we hear that

         19  gentleman is retired or that gentleman is retarded?

         20  I don't think that is the case. We need devices.

         21  These devices will bring the sound right to the hard

         22  of hearing person's ear and eliminate distance

         23  distortion. You will hear much about assistive

         24  devices today, and I add my voice and experience to

         25  it.
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          2                 Without the use of devices, hard of

          3  hearing people cannot hear well, we cannot

          4  understand people when they speak to us, we cannot

          5  use the telephone, we cannot hear the smoke alarm,

          6  we cannot hear the doorbell. We cannot function at

          7  work and if we cannot work, we cannot pay taxes, and

          8  we become a burden on government.

          9                 In closing, let me share some facts

         10  with you. As you have heard, there are approximately

         11  28 million hard o hearing and deaf people in the

         12  United States one out of four over the age of 65 are

         13  hard of hearing or deaf. One out of three over the

         14  age of 75 are hard of hearing or deaf. Here are some

         15  examples of compliance with the ADA in New York

         16  City.

         17                 One-hundred percent of all Broadway

         18  theaters have assistive living devices for audience

         19  use. Nearly 100 percent of all movie theaters have

         20  assistive for audience use. The Manhattan Borough

         21  President's Office has assistive devices for use at

         22  meetings.

         23                 I am a member of the Manhattan

         24  Borough President's Office, Committee on Disability,

         25  Accessibility and we use that device at these
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          2  meetings. When the City Council passes a bill, and

          3  there is a public signing ceremony, assistive

          4  devices are provided for public use. So I would say

          5  now is the time for the City, all of its agencies,

          6  facilities and programs, to fully comply with the

          7  Americans With Disabilities Act.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I think you

         10  have just made a very interesting point, because I

         11  think we have been holding our hearings of the

         12  Committee on Aging at 250 Broadway, and the reason

         13  we are meeting here in this Chamber today is because

         14  there are no assistive listening devices at 250. So

         15  perhaps what we have to do is move our hearings to

         16  this building, and I thank you for bringing that to

         17  my attention.

         18                 MR. GORDON: There is something else

         19  you could do. I have been at Town Hall Meetings that

         20  the Mayor has had and someone from his office comes

         21  in with two large suitcases and has these devices

         22  for audience use and even people that don't wear

         23  hearing aids will go up and take the item, because

         24  as you say, it helps you hear every word and

         25  understand every word.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Well, thank you

          3  very much. That was very interesting. I appreciate

          4  your testimony.

          5                 Mr. Branton Stewart, please. If he is

          6  here? And Ruth R. Green come forward and sit at the

          7  table alongside so you will be the next speaker

          8  after, please.

          9                 So, will the interpreter now please

         10  say that which the witness had already said.

         11                 THE INTERPRETER: I just said that if

         12  you don't mind, the interpreter needs to see me

         13  signing, so she will be voicing for me and she

         14  needed to be able to use that device.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: All right, that

         16  is Mr. Stewart whom you are now quoting, and that is

         17  the speaker who is interpreting. Please proceed.

         18                 MS. STEWART: Thank you, ladies and

         19  gentlemen, for inviting me to present to you this

         20  morning, and I also want to thank the League for the

         21  Hard of Hearing for inviting me to come. I

         22  apologize, I did come at the last minute and the

         23  problem was that there were no interpreters here for

         24  me. So, I was trying to page my agency, and finally

         25  at the last minute we were able to find someone, so
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          2  I can go ahead and present. So, thank you for your

          3  patience.

          4                 I am Branton Stewart, I am the

          5  Director for the Interpreter for All Service at New

          6  York Society for the Deaf, also known as NYSD, and I

          7  will be presenting on their behalf.

          8                 First I would like to explain briefly

          9  about New York Society for the Deaf. This is an

         10  agency that has been around for 85 years, and we

         11  provide a variety of services to deaf and deaf-blind

         12  individuals in the area.

         13                 We provide services such as social

         14  services, rehabilitation services, residential and

         15  advocacy services, as well.

         16                 We provide services to over 2,000

         17  clients annually, and the reason that I am here is

         18  because we have a great concern relating to the

         19  senior citizens group of the -- excuse me -- in

         20  terms of advocacy and the barriers that senior

         21  citizens face in terms of accessibility.

         22                 There are services provided for

         23  hearing individuals that are senior citizens, but

         24  fortunately very often deaf and hard of hearing, as

         25  well as deaf-blind people, senior citizens, are
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          2  often left out of the mix and that is a real

          3  problem.

          4                 This is a problem because primarily

          5  very often doctors, staff, nurses, have a lack of

          6  awareness and a lack of information about culture,

          7  sign language and I mean truly the culture is quite

          8  different.

          9                 Here in New York City there are over

         10  1.2 million deaf, hard of hearing and deaf-blind

         11  individuals in the City. That is a huge number of

         12  people. And you can imagine, there is only one,

         13  so-to-speak housing development specifically for

         14  deaf senior citizens, and that residential program

         15  is at Tanya Towers, which is also funded under New

         16  York Society for the Deaf, that is the only one in

         17  the City. There are no nursing homes for deaf and

         18  hard of hearing individuals. They have nursing homes

         19  in and around the city, but unfortunately they are

         20  not fully accessible for deaf and hard of hearing

         21  people. And again, this goes back to the fact that

         22  the staff and nurses and doctors have a lack of

         23  awareness and a lack of understanding of the basic

         24  needs and basic equipment. For example, FM systems,

         25  providing interpreters, the use of TTYs, lighting
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          2  systems for doorbells and for when the phone rings

          3  to have a light flash instead, equipment such as

          4  that is sorely lacking.

          5                 Also, there is only one day program

          6  for deaf senior citizens, which is in Brooklyn, and

          7  the other senior citizens around New York City are

          8  very isolated and unable to get involved in day

          9  programs, because the services are not provided, are

         10  not accessible to them.

         11                 Another concern that we have

         12  regarding deaf individuals is in terms of when deaf

         13  individuals are placed into a hearing environment,

         14  such as a nursing home, it is very common that the

         15  deaf senior citizens and their families can't

         16  communicate with them, the staff can't communicate

         17  with them and then they are thrown into an

         18  environment where all hearing senior citizens and

         19  they feel very isolated and very alone and their

         20  health deteriorates quite rapidly.

         21                 And this should not be happening. You

         22  know, if there was a deaf environment provided for

         23  these individuals then they could socialize and they

         24  could live longer and healthier lives and maintain

         25  their mental stability.
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          2                 I strongly recommend -- I have some

          3  recommendations for this problem. There needs to be

          4  an outreach program that different issues can be

          5  identified, and there also needs to be an assessment

          6  of the problem. We need to establish more programs,

          7  development programs for these senior citizens and

          8  provide special services. For example, senior

          9  citizen day programs, provide activities, nursing

         10  homes and in addition to provide accessibility, in

         11  terms of providing interpreters. Furthermore, staff,

         12  doctors and nurses need to be provided with more

         13  training to understand about the deaf culture and

         14  deaf senior citizens and their needs.

         15                 Now, I would like to go back, I think

         16  I forgot. Mr. White made a comment before, if I am

         17  correct, about the ADA and the accessibility and how

         18  that applies, in terms of the grievance process and

         19  everything else, I would like to let you know,

         20  however, that many deaf and blind, hard of hearing

         21  individuals are not aware of their rights, they

         22  don't know that they can complain, they don't know

         23  that they can tell people go to the court and

         24  everything like that. They are often very left out

         25  because they don't know what to do. So, I have a
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          2  very good example myself.

          3                 My parents are deaf, and they had to

          4  go to the emergency room, but they didn't even ask

          5  for an interpreter because they were afraid to. They

          6  were afraid the doctor would get angry and would it

          7  give it to them and force my parents to pay for it

          8  so they kept quiet and they were never even provided

          9  with interpreting services.

         10                 I mean, there is an awful lot of

         11  oppression that goes on in the deaf community.

         12                 Really the bottom line is I would

         13  like to -- I would also like to thank the Manhattan

         14  Borough President, Mrs. Virginia Fields, for

         15  providing us, NYSD, with funding through the

         16  Department of Aging, $10,000 was provided to NYSD,

         17  and I would like to thank her for that.

         18                 This money will be used to assess

         19  services and management, in terms of the senior

         20  citizens in the area, but of course 10,000 is not

         21  enough to cover all of the needs in New York City.

         22                 We would like to thank you for

         23  listening, and we would like you to consider

         24  providing more support for is in the future. Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

          3  much. You have done very, very good. Both of you.

          4  Our interpreter has been very kind and we want to

          5  thank both of you for being here and giving us this

          6  information.

          7                 MS. STEWART: Great. Thank you. It was

          8  my pleasure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 Ms. Green.

         12                 MS. GREEN: My name is Ruth R. Green,

         13  a bit different from Ruth P. Green, who you heard

         14  from earlier. I am currently a member of the Board

         15  of Directors, and was the Executive Director of the

         16  League for the Hard of Hearing from 1979 to 1991.

         17                 I am also the co-chair of the Health

         18  Committee of Advocate for Better Communication.

         19  Founded in 1910, the League for the Hard of Hearing

         20  is the oldest hearing rehabilitation agency in the

         21  world. Annually services are provided to over 22,000

         22  individuals and their families from all economic,

         23  social and ethnic groups, regardless of the degree

         24  of hearing loss or choice of communication style. No

         25  one is ever denied services because of an inability
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          2  to pay.

          3                 Advocates for Better Communication,

          4  ABC, as we are known, allied with the League for the

          5  Hard of Hearing, is a volunteer consumer group whose

          6  mission is through advocacy and education to make it

          7  possible for people with all degrees of hearing loss

          8  to participate in society.

          9                 I am pleased to have the opportunity

         10  to share some of our concerns.

         11                 Hearing loss is one of the most

         12  prevalent of physical disabilities. You do not die

         13  from it, and that is one of the problems as to why

         14  it doesn't get funding and why it doesn't get the

         15  attention it deserves.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You can't die

         17  from it, but you certainly don't live long with it

         18  because I know now that I am being sensitized in

         19  this very dramatic manner, that my husband certainly

         20  didn't benefit by having lost his hearing, and it

         21  contributed to his despondency and to his general

         22  decline and good health. And so he didn't die

         23  directly, he didn't die immediately, but I don't

         24  think it helped him live long.

         25                 MS. GREEN: You don't die from it, but
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          2  you wither away emotionally. It is an isolating

          3  disability. More than one out of ten Americans have

          4  a hearing loss, when we considered the senior

          5  population 65 and older, one in four has a hearing

          6  problem, and after the age of 75 the number

          7  increases to one in three.

          8                 Despite the incidence of the problem,

          9  little is done to increase access for the

         10  population, or to facilitate communication. The

         11  person with the hearing loss is limited not only by

         12  the hearing loss, but also by society's and

         13  government's lack of awareness of providing

         14  appropriate accommodation.

         15                 Almost 20 years ago, when I was the

         16  League's Executive Director, a proposal was

         17  submitted to the Office of Aging to conduct

         18  workshops to educate directors of senior centers to

         19  an understanding of hearing loss. To provide

         20  information on devices on how to make senior centers

         21  more accessible to the increasingly large numbers of

         22  people who attend the centers and have a hearing

         23  loss, and 20 years later, none of this has been

         24  implemented. Even the American With Disabilities

         25  Act, passed in 1990, has not brought about any
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          2  improvements or change.

          3                 Visit any senior center, and there

          4  will always be some people on the sidelines, some

          5  people who don't get the message. More often than

          6  not these people have a hearing loss, and they are

          7  socially isolated. Some may have hearing aids, some

          8  may not and yet referrals to help are rarely

          9  forthcoming.

         10                 Noise levels at most senior centers

         11  are very high. There are many hard surfaces and no

         12  acoustic treatment. Hearing aid users find

         13  communication difficult because of the high noise

         14  levels. Many people with hearing loss function quite

         15  adequately with an assisted listening system, yet

         16  few, if any, centers provide this accommodation.

         17                 Movies and films are shown at senior

         18  centers but caption versions are rarely or ever

         19  presented. Few to no attempts are made to provide

         20  information in written form.

         21                 As the population ages and more and

         22  more seniors need the services of home health aids

         23  who receive no training in communication strategies

         24  or on how to check a hearing aid or change a

         25  battery. And I can tell you some horror stories
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          2  about that.

          3                 There are ways to compensate for the

          4  difficulties which would make the environment more

          5  comfortable for all participants and the costs are

          6  minimal. I also want to digress from the written

          7  testimony for a minute and say that everything that

          8  I say here that applies to senior centers applies to

          9  health care facilities. I have been working since

         10  about 1985 to try to make health care facilities

         11  accessible to people with hearing loss. We tried to

         12  get the State Department to put it into the Health

         13  guidelines, the things that hospitals must do. They

         14  held hearings on this, and because there weren't

         15  sufficient numbers of complaints, they decided not

         16  to put it in the health regulation.

         17                 So, even though we go in to do

         18  training at hospitals, you train today but there is

         19  no guideline that says they must do it and so the

         20  staff leaves and then tomorrow it doesn't happen.

         21                 It is now time for a change. You need

         22  to provide sensitivity training for all who are

         23  engaged in providing services to the senior

         24  population. Educate social workers, health workers,

         25  recreation workers, the gamut of providers to an
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          2  understanding of hearing loss and assistive devices.

          3  Modify listening environments in senior centers and

          4  implement training for home health aids and nursing

          5  home staff. The League and ABC are ready, willing

          6  and able to assist you. We hope you hear our message

          7  and we thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Loud and clear.

          9  Thank you very much.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 Dr. Judith Lauterstein, and Ruth

         12  Shapiro, would you both please come forward, if you

         13  are here, and share this table.

         14                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Good morning. My

         15  name is Dr. Judith Lauterstein, and I am the

         16  Coordinator of the Deaf Program at Jacob Perlow

         17  Hospice, at Beth Israel Medical Center in New York

         18  City. We are a new program. We are about two and a

         19  half years in existence. We serve the deaf,

         20  deaf-blind and hard of hearing at the end-phase of

         21  life. There is no other program in the country at

         22  this moment that does what we do, and I want to tell

         23  you a little bit about it.

         24                 Some of the other people who

         25  testified today have presented these statistics, but
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          2  28 million Americans hearing impaired and 265,000 of

          3  whom live in New York City. For those with end-stage

          4  illness, difficulties in communicating can hinder

          5  their access to quality health care and emotional

          6  and spiritual support making their situation

          7  frustrating and very devastating.

          8                 Until recently, as I said earlier,

          9  there were no hospice programs anywhere in the

         10  country designed to meet the specific needs of deaf,

         11  deaf-blind and hard of hearing people at the

         12  end-stage of illness.

         13                 In 1997, Jacob Perlow Hospice at Beth

         14  Israel Medical Center filled this void by

         15  establishing a deaf hospice program with a $55,000

         16  grant from the Open Society Project on Deaf in

         17  America.

         18                 This program, which has since served

         19  blind, deaf-blind and hard of hearing, as well,

         20  provides a full component of hospice care and

         21  services to patients and families, including

         22  bereavement care for one year after the death of a

         23  loved one.

         24                 Last year we received a grant of

         25  $35,000 from Doris Buffet Bryant, the Sunshine Lady
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          2  Foundation, Moorehead, North Carolina, to hire a

          3  part-time staff interpreter. And many times deaf

          4  patients with end-stage illness are admitted to an

          5  acute care setting without an interpreter being

          6  present. Then as inpatients they may be moved from

          7  one unit to another and given various treatments,

          8  tests and medications.

          9                 It is my hope that this

         10  ground-breaking hospice for the deaf, deaf-blind,

         11  hard of hearing, will be a culturally-sensitive

         12  environment, free of all communication barriers. The

         13  deaf program also conducts outreach, educational

         14  forums in the deaf community. We have had two very

         15  successful fund-raisers, and we are training deaf

         16  hospice volunteers and we have trained three deaf

         17  home health aids. They will be completely trained by

         18  the end of the year, through New York Technical

         19  College and Patient Care.

         20                 This program demonstrates our

         21  longstanding commitment to serve the whole

         22  community, our Executive Director Paul Brenner

         23  states, so that all deaf patients, hard of hearing

         24  and deaf-blind facing the end of life can receive

         25  the many benefits that hospice has to offer.
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          2                 Thanks to my perseverance, deaf

          3  patients, deaf-blind and hard of hearing will very

          4  shortly be recognized through the New York

          5  Department of Health, now considers deaf, deaf-blind

          6  and hard of hearing as special needs population

          7  under hospice supplemental law, and a result of this

          8  precedent-setting legislation, Medicaid will start

          9  to reimburse for interpreters for these patients.

         10                 We have come a long way in two and a

         11  half years. We have a very long way to go. Ruth was

         12  wonderful, she came to an in-service that we did for

         13  our staff, with a table twice this size, with

         14  assistive listening devices. All the questions from

         15  the staff went to Ruth because our patients are

         16  elderly, many of them have hearing problems, and we

         17  would like very much to work with you, and we would

         18  like very much to become involved as a part of your

         19  Committee, and we want to get the word out, facing

         20  death these patients are not getting the care that

         21  they need and that they deserve. They do not have

         22  access to the services, and we would like to be able

         23  to work together with you and the Division of Pain

         24  Management and Palliative Care, of which we are a

         25  part, Beth Israel Medical Center, which is about a
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          2  year and a half old, to provide these services to

          3  seniors with hearing loss and seniors who are deaf

          4  and deaf-blind. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are very

          6  welcome.

          7                 I just have a question. You are

          8  talking about pain management?

          9                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Do you use

         11  acupuncture for pain management?

         12                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: So it is a part

         14  of your program?

         15                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Oh, yes. Very much

         16  so. And I live in Queens.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Where?

         18                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Regal Park.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Oh, okay.

         20  That's Karen's area, and she is just not here right

         21  now. I find this very interesting, and thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: It's my pleasure.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Ms. Shapiro.
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          2                 MS. SHAPIRO: I would like to digress

          3  from my testimony just for a moment. One of the

          4  services that the Advocates for Better

          5  Communication, which is a volunteer group provides,

          6  is to go to hospitals and seniors to demonstrate

          7  assistive devices, so that people will know that

          8  these are available.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON:  And how do you

         10  recruit your volunteers? Where do you find your

         11  volunteers? A help wanted ad?

         12                 MS. SHAPIRO: No. I am severely hard

         13  of hearing, I wear two very powerful hearing aids

         14  and I have been a client for many, many years. And

         15  Ruth Green, when she was Executive Director, asked

         16  me if I would be an advocate and so here I am.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Okay.

         18                 MS. SHAPIRO: In addition, I just want

         19  to say two other things. First of all, the question

         20  of the cost of the hearing aids came up before. My

         21  youngest son says I am wearing two computers in my

         22  ears, each of these hearing aids cost over $2,000.

         23  Fortunately, I am in a position to pay for them, but

         24  many people are not. Without them, I would be

         25  non-functional.
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          2                 And I also want to say that the

          3  Advocates for Better Communication, in addition to

          4  their work in hospitals and senior centers, have

          5  been successful in getting captioning in the

          6  theaters in New York. We work with the museums. I am

          7  the Chair of the Travel Committee and the Restaurant

          8  Noise Committee of the Group, and what we look for

          9  is to try to make all of these things accessible to

         10  people with hearing loss.

         11                 In July 1998, I was called for jury

         12  duty because I am an experienced advocate. I knew I

         13  had to contact Vincent Hominic, Chief Clerk of the

         14  Jury Division of the County of New York, to arrange

         15  for accessibility in the jury waiting and hearing

         16  rooms, and possibly in the courtroom.

         17                 Mr. Hominic saw to it that I had an

         18  assistive listening system and CARC,

         19  Computer-Assisted Realtime Captioning. I lasted only

         20  one day on that jury, but Lisa was a juror and had a

         21  person doing CARC throughout her hearing. There was

         22  also a juror who was deaf, accompanied by a sign

         23  language interpreter in that jury pool. The number

         24  of people who are hearing impaired and who are

         25  called up for jury duty continues to grow at a rapid
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          2  rate.

          3                 One of every ten people in the

          4  general population, one of every four over the age

          5  of 65 has some degree of hearing loss. Very few of

          6  them know these services are available. I am

          7  requesting that the Committee on Aging undertake an

          8  educational campaign to inform New Yorkers who have

          9  a hearing loss, that when they are called for jury

         10  duty, they can request assisted devices, captioning

         11  and interpreting services so they can communicate

         12  and participate in this important citizens'

         13  function.

         14                 During my term as ABC's coordinator,

         15  I was a member of a Committee convened by the Office

         16  of Emergency Management to establish protocols for

         17  people with special needs, in case of a hurricane.

         18  This is another area where an educational campaign

         19  is needed.

         20                 Unless people with hearing loss know

         21  in advance the procedures to follow in case of an

         22  emergency, they will be at a slight disadvantage

         23  since they cannot hear instructions on the radio or

         24  TV.

         25                 I urge the Committee on Aging to
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          2  recommend a Citywide education campaign for

          3  emergency management.

          4                 I also urge you to recommend to the

          5  City Council the digital visual instruction boards

          6  be installed in subways, buses, trains,

          7  transportation terminals, auditoriums, theaters and

          8  shelters, so that those of us who cannot hear and

          9  understand verbal instruction, can see them on a

         10  screen.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Do any of my

         13  colleagues have a question? Just feel free to ask.

         14                 I do thank you both very much. You

         15  have been very helpful. Thank you.

         16                 MS. SHAPIRO: Thank you.

         17                 DR. LAUTERSTEIN: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Charlotte Roth,

         19  and Florence Steiger.

         20                 And identify who is speaking when you

         21  start to speak. You know, just introduce yourselves.

         22                 MS. ROTH: Good morning. I am going to

         23  present a shortened version of my speech, because

         24  time is running fast.

         25                 My name is Charlotte Roth. I am a
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          2  co-chair of ABC. I am profoundly hearing impaired. I

          3  have a cochlear implant in my left ear and I wear a

          4  hearing aid in my left ear. I would like to share my

          5  experiences in seeking a residential facility for my

          6  mother, who had both hearing and visual impairments.

          7                 This happened several years ago, and

          8  it was not in this City, but the day and the

          9  geography are irrelevant because nothing has

         10  changed. It is all happening now in New York City.

         11                 I fill recreational rooms with

         12  residents sat in front of the TV and slept or stared

         13  in space. Many wore hearing aids but the sound was

         14  too low for them to hear and there was no captioning

         15  on the TV.

         16                 A resident was told that her daughter

         17  had called to tell her that everything was fine. I

         18  asked why she couldn't speak directly to hear

         19  daughter, and I was told, well, she doesn't hear

         20  very well on the phone, and it is just easier this

         21  way.

         22                 This benign neglect that feeds into

         23  depression and isolation is actually interpreted as

         24  an act of kindness. No one comprehends the cruelty

         25  inherent in that simple deed. The message was
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          2  everything is fine. There was no news of a new baby

          3  tooth, there was no news of a grandchild who won a

          4  composition contest, there was no news of a class

          5  trip, a birthday party, an engagement, there was no

          6  news. There was nothing but frustration and

          7  emptiness and isolation for the person with the

          8  hearing loss.

          9                 A broken hearing aid was gone for two

         10  weeks. A loaner aid had not been provided. And

         11  although the aid had been repaired for several days,

         12  it was not important enough for anyone to make an

         13  effort to return it to its owner so that she could

         14  hear again.

         15                 Visual alert systems were missing or

         16  inadequate. Feelings of helplessness and

         17  worthlessness are compounded day after day by acts

         18  of kindness. Hearing aids, captioned TVs, hearing

         19  aid compatible amplified telephone, TTYs and the use

         20  of the relay system could bring such joy to so many

         21  people with hearing loss in these facilities.

         22                 I suggest that the Committee on Aging

         23  institute a resident and staff training program in

         24  communication techniques and the use of hearing aids

         25  and assistive devices, residents and staff awareness
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          2  of the needs of people with hearing loss, the

          3  invisible disability, would make positive changes in

          4  the lives of these citizens who have made their

          5  contribution to this society. It is time to apply

          6  simple principles at humanity.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: You are

          9  welcome. Thank you.

         10                 MS. STEIGER: I am Florence Steiger, I

         11  am also a senior and I am the other half of a

         12  co-coordinate of ABC. I also have a very profound

         13  hearing loss and I have recently had a cochlear

         14  implant in my right ear, and wear a very powerful

         15  hearing aid in my left ear.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does the

         17  cochlear implant help you?

         18                 MS. STEIGER: Pardon me?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does the

         20  cochlear implant help you?

         21                 MS. STEIGER: I have the --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Does it help?

         23  Does it help?

         24                 MS. STEIGER: Well, mine is only ten

         25  days old that it has been turned on, so I am still
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          2  learning how to use it. But I am hearing speech with

          3  it and it does help. And we know many, many people

          4  it has helped a great deal.

          5                 I would like to tell you about my

          6  personal experience in moving into New York City

          7  with my husband in 1997. I had looked forward to

          8  taking advantage of all of the wonderful cultural

          9  and educational facilities that are available and

         10  also participating in my community as an active

         11  citizen to maintain and improve our neighborhood.

         12                 I quickly found that it was almost

         13  impossible to do because most of the places were

         14  just inaccessible to me hearing-wise. The courses

         15  that I wanted to take and the lectures that I was

         16  interested in at the various educational facilities

         17  had no listening systems or captioning available,

         18  including those that were designed specifically for

         19  the senior citizens. And the Broadway theaters, they

         20  did have listening systems, but their headsets were

         21  not compatible to use with a hearing aid, which is

         22  what I needed to do. I could not use the headset

         23  without the hearing aid.

         24                 Most of the Broadway theaters had no

         25  hearing systems at all. And many of those that had
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          2  them, the staff was not educated on how to use them

          3  or to help the patrons to use them.

          4                 In the museums the audiotape

          5  equipment, accompanying the major exhibits, were not

          6  accessible to us because they were not powerful

          7  enough and they also were not compatible with

          8  hearing aids.

          9                 The public meetings, community

         10  activities, all of which were not accessible.

         11                 So, the transition in living in the

         12  City became exceedingly difficult for me to break in

         13  and make friends, and I was very isolated, lonely

         14  and this was a very difficult situation for me,

         15  until I became involved with the League for the Hard

         16  of Hearing, and ABC, which is Advocates for Better

         17  Communication, in which I was able to share this

         18  passion of making the world a better place for

         19  hearing impaired people, and I besiege the Committee

         20  on Aging to take stronger action enforcing the laws

         21  that are already there, to make public hearings more

         22  accessible for the safety and the well-being of all

         23  seniors.

         24                 Then I have a statement by another

         25  colleague of ours. Her name is Lois Beadle.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            118

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2                 I was delighted and excited when

          3  Advocates for Better Communication invited me to

          4  speak to you. Personal concerns made that

          5  impossible.

          6                 I am a late deafened adult of 75

          7  years. I started to lose my hearing when I was 54

          8  due to meningitis. As a single parent, wishing to

          9  remain independent and provide for my teenage son

         10  and daughter, I desperately searched for ways to

         11  cope with this problem and remain working in the

         12  hearing world which is the only world I knew, and

         13  that was not easy in 1978.

         14                 Because of my experiences, I have

         15  been assisting Ruth C. Green, Chairman of the ABC

         16  Senior Center Committee. We inform seniors at your

         17  centers that technology has greatly improved and

         18  their hearing and lives could be dramatically

         19  enhanced by the use of hearing aids and assistive

         20  listening devices.

         21                 We find our audiences are lethargic

         22  with brief attention spans because many of them

         23  cannot hear what is being said.

         24                 The senior centers we have visited

         25  have not been made accessible for people who are
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          2  hard of hearing or deaf even though the 1990

          3  Americans With Disabilities Act requires all public

          4  spaces to be made accessible. Statistics clearly

          5  show that one of every four people over 65 has some

          6  degree of hearing loss and needs these

          7  accommodations. Many of you, too, will experience

          8  hearing loss one day. Need I say more?

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: Thank you very

         11  much. Thank you.

         12                 The last two witnesses I have here,

         13  Ed McGibbon and Jed Levine, please.

         14                 While you folks are getting

         15  yourselves settled, Council Member Nelson would like

         16  to make a statement.

         17                 Thank you. I found today's hearings,

         18  and I say hearings because I had two of them, to be

         19  very enlightening. My feeling is the purpose of

         20  government is to protect and in fact help the

         21  community.

         22                 Interestingly enough, today in the

         23  Transportation hearing the issue, one of the issues

         24  was whether people who are blind, it may sound funny

         25  at first but it is not, should get parking permits
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          2  to park their cars in certain areas. But it is

          3  actually people driving them, so they shouldn't have

          4  to park too far away. And one of the issues that was

          5  questioned about this was DOT feels that it would be

          6  difficult to have them issue these special permits

          7  because it is a mobility issue and do they really

          8  have that much difficulty in getting around the

          9  city, which I found to be abhorrent in a way. And I

         10  brought up, well, is it easier for somebody with one

         11  leg crossing a street in New York City than it is

         12  for somebody who is blind, or vice-versa, for that

         13  matter. What is the mobility issue? And it sort of

         14  ties together, because actually this all intertwines

         15  when you think about it overall.

         16                 There was touching testimony, I

         17  think, of the gentlemen who spoke about his parents

         18  who were deaf in a hospital and they were afraid to

         19  say anything, in the emergency room, which could be

         20  a life and death situation. And I had that with my

         21  father, too, he had a laryngectomy. He was able to

         22  speak his whole life up until suddenly at the age of

         23  70 he could not speak anymore and the frustrations

         24  he went through, and could not communicate very

         25  well. I saw him crying many times, the frustration
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          2  involved when you cannot communicate. And that was

          3  of course a learning experience for me, because I

          4  tried to emulate my father throughout my whole life

          5  and then when he went through this I tried also to

          6  not speak to somebody for a day and I couldn't do

          7  it. It was like a fast was much easier on a holy

          8  day. I had to speak to somebody. So, can you imagine

          9  going through life not hearing, not seeing, whatever

         10  it is. It is the same indictment I think upon a

         11  culture in many respects but that is why I just

         12  wanted to make that statement, today both hearings

         13  seemed to be joined in a way, whatever your handicap

         14  happens to be or your challenge, as so put today.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. McGIBBON: My name is Edward

         17  McGibbon. I apologize to the Council, I didn't bring

         18  a handout of my summary. I am just going to be very

         19  brief. I am very active with hearing loss. I have

         20  been a hearing aid user for 48 years. I am very

         21  active in volunteer work, I do a lot of outreach

         22  programs, especially in the senior citizen are at

         23  home. I try to educate them about hearing loss an

         24  tell them how and where they can go and get help.

         25                 The League for the Hard of Hearing is
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          2  a very strong back-up for me. They provide a lot of

          3  different information that I need in different

          4  areas.

          5                 I am very concerned with the aging

          6  people because they are in denial. They use their

          7  glasses to communicate rather than use a hearing

          8  aid. Glasses means eye to eye contact for

          9  lip-reading. I try to educate them to try to be more

         10  understandable in going to the doctor's office, to

         11  make sure they understand their medication of how to

         12  take it, that it can be fatal if not taken properly.

         13  I also know that when I am lecturing senior

         14  citizens, they are not aware of what I am saying to

         15  them. I don't like to raise my voice, because when

         16  you do that, they have a sense of feeling that we

         17  are yelling at them, and we are not trying to do

         18  that.

         19                 I am a very active person in

         20  different areas as well. I give out lectures in

         21  different areas, as I am giving one in February to

         22  the New York State Police Department, to try to get

         23  them to be aware of hearing and deaf people.

         24                 We are a very big population, even

         25  though we are not noticeable. Many of us are
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          2  invisible. I hope the Council will take some points

          3  of our views that we presented to you today and make

          4  some considerations for us.

          5                 Thank you for your time.

          6                 MR. LEVINE: I am Jed Levine, Director

          7  of Education and Training for the Alzheimer's

          8  Association, New York City Chapter, and co-chair of

          9  the Citywide Geriatrics Committee and former

         10  co-chair of the Manhattan Geriatrics Committee. I am

         11  pleased to have the opportunity to submit testimony

         12  on the provision of services for the hearing

         13  impaired in New York City.

         14                 My testimony is on behalf of the

         15  citywide Geriatrics Committee, which is a specialty

         16  committee of the Federation of the New York City

         17  Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and

         18  Alcoholism Services, and it is charged with the task

         19  of identifying the mental health needs of elderly

         20  New Yorkers and advocating for them. I am sorry Ms.

         21  Clarke is not here. The Committee represents all

         22  five borough Geriatrics Committees, which have wide

         23  representation consisting of public and voluntary

         24  provider agencies and consumers who share a

         25  commitment to serving the elderly.
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          2                 Research estimates that 25 percent of

          3  older people present significant symptoms of mental

          4  health illness and ten percent of that group are

          5  actually diagnosed as mentally ill. This translates

          6  into as many as 70,000 older Manhattan residents

          7  alone. Yet, despite the enormous need, very few

          8  elderly actually receive mental health services.

          9                 According to a recent study from the

         10  New York City Department of Mental Health, only

         11  between one and two percent of New York City's

         12  elderly will receive mental health services in one

         13  of their funded programs.

         14                 For many of those with mental health

         15  problems, hearing loss is either a precipitating or

         16  a contributing factor.

         17                 According to a recent study, which

         18  has already been quoted today, released by the

         19  national Council on the Aging, many seniors with

         20  uncorrected hearing loss suffer from serious,

         21  emotional and social consequences, including

         22  depression, isolation, paranoia and emotional

         23  distress.

         24                 Among respondents with more severe

         25  hearing loss, 30 percent of non-users of hearing
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          2  aids reported these sad or depressed feelings,

          3  compared to 22 percent of hearing aid users.

          4  Clearly, there is a link between untreated hearing

          5  loss and emotional well-being. There is also a

          6  shared stigma, feelings of shame about getting help

          7  and treatment for depression and other mental health

          8  problems, and also very strong feelings of shame or

          9  embarrassment about wearing a hearing aid.

         10                 Several factors, including stigma,

         11  denial and cost, as well as lack of information

         12  about where to get evaluated and treated, prevent

         13  more seniors from getting the assistance they need.

         14                 Recently, the New York City

         15  Department for the Aging and the Department of

         16  Mental Health started a joint pilot project

         17  developing mental health programs in senior centers.

         18  The idea was to bring the services to the natural

         19  locations where seniors congregate. Education for

         20  both staff and seniors was a part of the process and

         21  in many centers the preliminary reports are that the

         22  program is quite successful. They have overcome the

         23  barriers to having mental health services in the

         24  senior centers.

         25                 I think that a similar program of
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          2  hearing evaluations and treatment in senior centers

          3  would be equally effective and have the added bonus

          4  of allowing hearing impaired seniors access to the

          5  socialization and stimulation of the centers.

          6                 We know that seniors who receive

          7  treatment respond very well. Hearing aid users

          8  report significant improvement in many areas of

          9  their lives, including improved relations at home,

         10  feelings about self, relations with children and

         11  grandchildren, self-confidence, social life and

         12  instrumental health.

         13                 Hearing impairment is one of the last

         14  areas of disability where many seniors feel that it

         15  is accessible to not get assistance. There is a

         16  pervasive attitude often internalized by seniors

         17  themselves that hearing loss is something that older

         18  people need to learn to live with and accept. We

         19  know different.

         20                 This recent study by the NCOA clearly

         21  shows that treatment is successful. Seniors need

         22  strong advocates, including New York City, to change

         23  the culture and encourage proper evaluation,

         24  treatment and correction of hearing impairment. This

         25  should consist of offering services in local senior

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  settings and other settings, a strong public

          3  relations campaign and education of younger adults

          4  and children so that these pervasive attitudes can

          5  be changed earlier and perhaps the next generation

          6  of seniors will not have to suffer in silence.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I must say I

          9  echo Mike Nelson's comments before you two folks

         10  made your contribution to the discussion. For me it

         11  has been extremely edifying. It has put into

         12  perspective information I have had but haven't

         13  focused properly, haven't sharpened the focus on.

         14  Retroactively I understand a lot more about what I

         15  was living through than I was actually aware I was

         16  living through it at the time. Which doesn't make me

         17  feel happy but at least I understand where I come

         18  from. And I think that everybody who has been taking

         19  part in this hearing, and you know we have had

         20  several persons who were not even on the committee

         21  proper but who were interested in the subject

         22  attended the hearing, we certainly have all been

         23  impressed by the legitimacy and the need of our

         24  hearing impaired colleagues and we certainly, being

         25  people of goodwill and having immediate hands-on
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          2  contact with our constituents throughout the City,

          3  are responsive and will certainly consider all of

          4  the information we have had for future budgets,

          5  allocations, working with DFTA, improving quality of

          6  senior centers, although this I say to you is a long

          7  range project because it is not going to happen

          8  quickly nor overnight, but certainly it is something

          9  that has never been given up front consideration

         10  before and certainly will be receiving attention

         11  from now on.

         12                 So, I want to thank you all very,

         13  very much for having taken the trouble to come down

         14  here and share your information with us, it has been

         15  very enlightening, and I think you have made a very

         16  good contribution to the welfare of the City of New

         17  York and I thank you for it.

         18                 Do any of my colleagues want to say

         19  anything?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want you

         21  to be aware of my deafness, for the purpose of

         22  making this issue more clear, I appreciate for you

         23  inviting me to this and I appreciate that the

         24  Chairwoman of this Committee is having this hearing.

         25                 I suffer from Meniere's disease, and
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          2  it has affected my life very severely. But the

          3  biggest problem that I have is that I lost over 40

          4  percent of hearing in my right ear, and I have the

          5  illness in both ears. Then operation is out of the

          6  question for this.

          7                 My interest on this subject doesn't

          8  come from my personal experience, it comes because I

          9  worked as a social worker when I was in Puerto Rico

         10  with different-abled people of all kinds, from

         11  blindness to deafness, to being physically impaired

         12  in mobility and then mental illness, and from that

         13  is that come (sic). But what I wanted to tell you is

         14  that I am committed to work with you if you need me.

         15  What you need to do is just call me, and I will

         16  contribute to whatever you want to put in place. But

         17  I want to suggest to you one thing. I suggest very

         18  strongly that you begin working as a group to make

         19  possible the testing of every senior in every senior

         20  citizen center for hearing loss. That is a product

         21  that is achievable, it can be accomplished, and I

         22  know that the Chairwoman of this Committee will do

         23  everything possible to accomplish a project like

         24  that. You need certain things in place, but this can

         25  be done. There is a way to do it, there is a manner
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          2  in we can do it and the Council I know will be more

          3  than willing to work on this project. And the reason

          4  I am narrowing on that is because if you can

          5  determine the population that is suffering from this

          6  problem, then you can determine the kind of services

          7  that are needed, and how to allocate those services

          8  and where to knock on the door to say, look, you are

          9  not serving this population properly, the areas that

         10  are not doing that job. Then for me it is critical.

         11                 For example, I have more than six

         12  senior citizen centers in my district, none of those

         13  senior citizens received the kind of services where

         14  seniors can go and test their hearing loss, and by

         15  my own experience I can tell you to this day, I feel

         16  would like to hear, then I go back and forth with

         17  this feeling that I have inside, that sometimes said

         18  why me? Why? And that is a negative way of

         19  addressing that. And I bet there is many seniors out

         20  there who don't want to admit or recognize that they

         21  do not hear and that they need help in that arena.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON HARRISON: I just want to

         24  add a personal note too. You know, I mentioned the

         25  fact that my husband had lost his hearing and mom
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          2  hadn't her hearing anymore either, but I think I was

          3  more prepared to accept their loss than I was to

          4  accept the loss of my grandson who lost his hearing

          5  from spinal meningitis when he was three years old.

          6  And I know from firsthand the horrors, the

          7  heartbreak, the suffering that the entire family

          8  went through working with this child who had been

          9  very, very verbal and very, very alive and suddenly

         10  nobody was talking to him and his music didn't play

         11  anymore and his mother didn't talk to him anymore

         12  and the horrors that have taken place over the

         13  numbers of years. He is now 14, 14 or 15, I can't

         14  remember, but he seems to have adapted at this

         15  point, but he sure as hell puts his family through

         16  its paces and it was not a fun thing to watch what

         17  they were going through because of his frustrations

         18  and his agonies.

         19                 So, the point I am making is that you

         20  are not speaking to the walls here. You are speaking

         21  to people who can respond and who have their own

         22  understanding and empathy for you, and for the

         23  problems that you are working with and we respect

         24  you for it too. So, thank you very much.

         25                 I think the hearing is adjourned,
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          2  unless Lasher wants to say anything? No.

          3                 The hearing is adjourned. Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:41 p.m.)
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